

LUND UNIVERSITY

Linking distributed hydrological processes with ecosystem vegetation dynamics and carbon cycling: Modelling studies in a subarctic catchment of northern Sweden

Tang, Jing

2014

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Tang, J. (2014). Linking distributed hydrological processes with ecosystem vegetation dynamics and carbon cycling: Modelling studies in a subarctic catchment of northern Sweden. Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science, Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply: Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

List of papers

- I. Tang, J., Pilesjö, P., Miller, P. A., Persson, A., Yang, Z., Hanna, E. & Callaghan, T. V. (2014), Incorporating topographic indices into dynamic ecosystem modelling using LPJ-GUESS. Ecohydrology, 7: 1147–1162. DOI: 10.1002/eco.1446
- II. Tang, J., Miller, P. A., Crill, P. M., Olin, S. & Pilesjö, P. (2014), Investigating the influence of two different flow routing algorithms on soil–water– vegetation interactions using the dynamic ecosystem model LPJ-GUESS. Ecohydrology. DOI:10.1002/eco.1526
- III. Tang, J., Miller, P. A., Persson, A., Olefeldt, D., Pilejsö P., Heliasz M., Jackowicz-Korczynski M., Yang Z., Smith B., Callaghan, T.V. & Christensen, T. R. Carbon budget estimation of a subarctic catchment using a dynamic ecosystem model at high spatial resolution. *Submitted*
- IV. Tang, J., Poska, A., Yurova, A., Miller, P. A., Olin, S., Smith B. & Schurgers, G. Modelling dissolved organic carbon export within a dynamic ecosystem model: implementation in a subarctic catchment. *Submitted*

JING TANG Linking distributed hydrological processes with ecosystem vegetation dynamics and carbon cycling



Linking distributed hydrological processes with ecosystem vegetation dynamics and carbon cycling

Modelling studies in a subarctic catchment of northern Sweden

JING TANG

DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICAL GEOGRAPHY AND ECOSYSTEM SCIENCE | LUND UNIVERSITY



LUND UNIVERSITY LUND UNIVERSITY

789185 793440

Faculty of Science Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science ISBN 978-91-85793-44-0

Linking distributed hydrological processes with ecosystem vegetation dynamics and carbon cycling

Modelling studies in a subarctic catchment of northern Sweden

Jing Tang



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Science, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Världen auditorium, Tuesday 16th December, 2014, at 13:00.

Faculty opponent

Dr. Eleanor Blyth Centre for Ecology & Hydrology, Wallingford, United Kingdom

Organization	Document name
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science, Sölvegatan 12, SE-223 62, Lund, Sweden	Date of issue
	2014-11-20
Author(s) Jing Tang	Sponsoring organization The European Union
	Cooperation Window" (EMECW Lot 14)

Title and subtitle: Linking distributed hydrological processes with ecosystem vegetation dynamics and carbon cycling - Modelling studies in a subarctic catchment of northern Sweden

Abstract

The Arctic and Subarctic regions are of particular importance to the global climate change and are now experiencing a climate warming that is higher than the global average. Around 50% of the global soil carbon is stored in high latitude soils, especially in permafrost and peatland soils. Permafrost thawing, speeding up the decomposition of previously frozen soil carbon, is expected to result in strongly positive feedbacks to global warming. Meanwhile, increased air temperature may strongly impact vegetation growth and distributions in this region. Dynamic ecosystem models are powerful tools to study climate change influences on ecosystem processes and also to quantify ecosystem feedbacks to the atmosphere. However, these models often focus on the vertical transfer of carbon and water between the atmosphere, the land surface vegetation and soils. Therefore, they generally do not consider the horizontal water and soluble carbon flows between the modelled spatial units (grid cells), which could result in an incomplete estimation of water and carbon budgets, especially for climatically sensitive high latitude regions.

In this thesis, we aim to overcome this limitation by implementing spatial topographical indices into a state-of-the-art dynamic ecosystem model, LPJ-GUESS, and to incorporate water and carbon (mainly dissolved organic carbon, DOC) interactions between the grid cells. Modelling approaches and algorithms developed in this thesis were applied to study the subarctic Stordalen catchment, located in northern Sweden, and to explore the potential influence on the model's hydrological and ecological estimations. Extensive sets of observation data were used for model evaluation throughout.

We proposed a distributed hydrological (DH) approach to dynamically simulate water flow from cell to cell within the catchment and compared the hydrological and ecological impacts resulting from different flow routing algorithms. The results indicate an improved accuracy of runoff estimation when using the proposed DH scheme in the Stordalen catchment. They also show that the choice of flow algorithm can have strong impacts on water and carbon flux estimations in this region. Furthermore, a complete estimation of the catchment carbon budget was assessed using our developed model. We found that the catchment is a carbon sink at present and could become a stronger sink in the near future, a result which is, however, very dependent on future atmospheric CO2 concentrations and methane (CH4) emissions from the peatlands. Additionally, the model was further extended to dynamically model soil water DOC and the lateral transport of DOC across the landscape. The modelled outputs suggest that DOC production and mineralization largely contribute to DOC fluxes and that wet fen peatland is and will be a hotspot for DOC export.

In conclusion, this thesis demonstrates the feasibility of implementing topographical indices into LPJ-GUESS to describe water flows, and the importance of considering spatial heterogeneity in hydrological conditions when modelling carbon dynamics at high latitudes. Furthermore, the integration of vertical and horizontal carbon fluxes at high spatial resolutions can be used to provide more accurate estimations of a complete carbon budget and can dynamically simulate the fate of different carbon components in response to climate change.

Key words: Carbon cycling, Water cycling, Hydrological modelling, Ecosystem modelling, Subarctic ecosystems, Climate change

Classification system and/or index terms (if any) Supplementary bibliographical information Language: English Avhandlingar från Institutionen för naturgeografi och ekosystemvetenskap ISSN and key title ISBN 978-91-85793-44-0 Recipient's notes Number of pages Price Security classification

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Try lay

Date 20/4 - 1/-10

Linking distributed hydrological processes with ecosystem vegetation dynamics and carbon cycling

Modelling studies in a subarctic catchment of northern Sweden

Jing Tang



A doctoral thesis at a university in Sweden is produced either as a monograph or as a collection of papers. In the latter case the introductory part constitutes the formal thesis, which summarizes the accompanying papers already published or manuscripts at various stages (in press, submitted, or in preparation).

Copyright © Jing Tang

Cover photo by Jing Tang

Faculty of Science Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science

ISBN 978-91-85793-44-0

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2014



List of papers

- I. <u>Tang, J.</u>, Pilesjö, P., Miller, P. A., Persson, A., Yang, Z., Hanna, E. & Callaghan, T. V. (2014), Incorporating topographic indices into dynamic ecosystem modelling using LPJ-GUESS. Ecohydrology, 7: 1147–1162. DOI: 10.1002/eco.1446
- II. <u>Tang, J.</u>, Miller, P. A., Crill, P. M., Olin, S. & Pilesjö, P. (2014), Investigating the influence of two different flow routing algorithms on soil– water–vegetation interactions using the dynamic ecosystem model LPJ-GUESS. Ecohydrology. DOI:10.1002/eco.1526
- III. <u>Tang, J.</u>, Miller, P. A., Persson, A., Olefeldt, O., Pilejsö P., Heliasz M., Jackowicz-Korczynski M., Yang Z., Smith B., Callaghan, T.V. & Christensen, T. R. Carbon budget estimation of a subarctic catchment using a dynamic ecosystem model at high spatial resolution. *Submitted*
- IV. <u>Tang, J.</u>, Poska, A., Yurova, A., Miller, P. A., Olin, S., Smith B. & Schurgers, G. Modelling dissolved organic carbon export within a dynamic ecosystem model: implementation in a subarctic catchment. *Subtmitted*

List of contributions

- I. TJ contributed to the design of the study, implemented topographical indices in LPJ-GUESS, performed all simulations and analysis, and led the writing.
- II. TJ led the design of the study, performed all simulations and analysis, and led the writing.
- III. TJ led the design of the study, performed all analysis and simulations, contributed to the interpretation of the results, and led the writing.
- IV. TJ implemented DOC-related processes in LPJ-GUESS, led the design of the study, performed all simulations, participated in the analysis, and led the writing.

Papers I and II are reproduced with kind permission from the copyright holder.

Abstract

The Arctic and Subarctic regions are of particular importance to the global climate change and are now experiencing a climate warming that is higher than the global average. Around 50% of the global soil carbon is stored in high latitude soils, especially in permafrost and peatland soils. Permafrost thawing, speeding up the decomposition of previously frozen soil carbon, is expected to result in strongly positive feedbacks to global warming. Meanwhile, increased air temperature may strongly impact vegetation growth and distributions in this region. Dynamic ecosystem models are powerful tools to study climate change influences on ecosystem processes and also to quantify ecosystem feedbacks to the atmosphere. However, these models often focus on the vertical transfer of carbon and water between the atmosphere, the land surface vegetation and soils. Therefore, they generally do not consider the horizontal water and soluble carbon flows between the modelled spatial units (grid cells), which could result in an incomplete estimation of water and carbon budgets, especially for climatically sensitive high latitude regions.

In this thesis, we aim to overcome this limitation by implementing spatial topographical indices into a state-of-the-art dynamic ecosystem model, LPJ-GUESS, and to incorporate water and carbon (mainly dissolved organic carbon, DOC) interactions between the grid cells. Modelling approaches and algorithms developed in this thesis were applied to study the subarctic Stordalen catchment, located in northern Sweden, and to explore the potential influence on the model's hydrological and ecological estimations. Extensive sets of observation data were used for model evaluation throughout.

We proposed a distributed hydrological (DH) approach to dynamically simulate water flow from cell to cell within the catchment and compared the hydrological and ecological impacts resulting from different flow routing algorithms. The results indicate an improved accuracy of runoff estimation when using the proposed DH scheme in the Stordalen catchment. They also show that the choice of flow algorithm can have strong impacts on water and carbon flux estimations in this region. Furthermore, a complete estimation of the catchment carbon budget was assessed using our developed model. We found that the catchment is a carbon sink at present and could become a stronger sink in the near future, a result which is, however, very dependent on future atmospheric CO_2 concentrations and methane (CH₄) emissions from the peatlands. Additionally, the model was further

extended to dynamically model soil water DOC and the lateral transport of DOC across the landscape. The modelled outputs suggest that DOC production and mineralization largely contribute to DOC fluxes and that wet fen peatland is and will be a hotspot for DOC export.

In conclusion, this thesis demonstrates the feasibility of implementing topographical indices into LPJ-GUESS to describe water flows, and the importance of considering spatial heterogeneity in hydrological conditions when modelling carbon dynamics at high latitudes. Furthermore, the integration of vertical and horizontal carbon fluxes at high spatial resolutions can be used to provide more accurate estimations of a complete carbon budget and can dynamically simulate the fate of different carbon components in response to climate change.

Sammanfattning

De arktiska och subarktiska regionerna är av särskild betydelse för den globala klimatförändringen, och genomgår nu en klimatuppvärmning som är högre än genomsnittshöjningen på jorden. Omkring 50 % av världens markkol är lagrat i nordliga jordar (på höga latituder), och där främst i permafrost- och torvjordar. Upptiningen av permafrost påskyndar nedbrytningen, och därmed frigöring, av tidigare fryst markkol, vilket förväntas ha kraftiga effekter på den globala uppvärmningen. Samtidigt kan en ökad lufttemperatur påtagligt påverka tillväxt och utbredning av vegetation i dessa regioner. Dynamiska ekosystemmodeller är effektiva verktyg för att studera klimatförändringars påverkan på ekosystemprocesser, inklusive kvantifiering av återkopplingar från olika ekosystem till atmosfären. Dessa modeller fokuserar emellertid främst på det vertikala utbytet av kol och vatten mellan atmosfär, landyta, vegetation och mark. Därför tar de i allmänhet inte hänsyn till de horisontella vatten- och kolflödena som förekommer mellan de modellerade rumsliga enheterna (jmf gridceller i en rasterkarta eller pixlar i en bild). Denna förenkling kan leda till en ofullständig uppskattning av vatten- och kolbudgetar, och då i synnerhet för de klimatkänsliga regionerna på de höga latituderna.

Denna avhandling syftar till att reducera ovan nämnda begränsningar genom att implementera rumsliga topografiska index i den dynamiska ekosystemmodellen LPJ-GUESS, samt att inkorporera interaktioner mellan vatten och kol (huvudsakligen löst organiskt kol, DOC) över ytan (mellan gridcellerna i kartan). De modeller som utvecklats inom denna studie har implementerats i det subarktiska Stordalens avrinningsområde, beläget i norra Sverige. Där har modellernas eventuella inverkan på hydrologiska och ekologiska simuleringar analyserats och dokumenterats. För utvärdering av modellerna har omfattande observationsdata använts.

Vidare föreslås en distribuerad hydrologisk (DH) metod för att dynamiskt simulera vattentransport från cell till cell inom Stordalens avrinningsområde, och jämförande studier av de hydrologiska och ekologiska effekterna beroende på olika algoritmer för modellering av vattenflöden har genomförts. Resultaten visar att den föreslagna DH-metoden kan modellera avrinningen i Stordalens avrinningsområde bättre än tidigare föreslagna metoder. Vidare kan det konstateras att valet av flödesalgoritm har en stor inverkan på modelleringen av vatten- och kolflöden i regionen. Den utvecklade metoden användes även för att

utföra en fullständig uppskattning av kolbudgeten i avrinningsområdet. I denna delstudie kom det fram att upptagningsområdet idag är en kolsänka, och att det inom en snar framtid sannolikt kommer att bli en ännu starkare sänka. Detta förlopp är emellertid starkt beroende av framtida atmosfäriska CO₂-koncentrationer och metanutsläpp från torvmarkerna. Den sista delen av avhandlingen behandlar ytterligare utveckling av modellen för att dynamiskt kunna modellera DOC i markvatten, samt den laterala (horisontella) transporten av DOC i landskapet. Resultaten visar att produktion och mineralisering av DOC i stor utsträckning bidrar till DOC-flöden, samt att våta torvmarker är och kommer att vara hetfläckar (även kallade hotspots) för DOC-export.

Sammanfattningsvis visar denna avhandling möjligheterna att implementera topografiska index och vattenflöden (lateralt och vertikalt) i LPJ-GUESS. Den demonstrerar också vikten av att ta hänsyn till rumslig heterogenitet i hydrologiska förhållanden vid modellering av koldynamik på höga latituder. Avhandlingsarbetet har gjort det möjligt att genom integrering av vertikala och laterala kolflöden vid höga rumsliga upplösningar noggrannare skatta en fullständig kolbudget, samt att dynamiskt simulera vilken påverkan klimatförändringarna har på olika kolkomponenter.

摘要

北极和亚北极地区对全球气候变化影响尤为重要。目前,北极地区正面临着变暖速 度高于全球平均的现状。全球大约有 50%的土壤碳储存在高纬度地区的土壤里,这 些土壤碳主要分布于冻土层和泥炭层中。冻土层的解冻会使原先被冻结的土壤碳加 速分解,产生温室气体,从而对全球变暖形成一个强烈的正反馈。与此同时,气温 的增加可能会很大程度地影响植被在这些地区的生长和分布。动态生态系统模型是 一种非常强大的工具,被用来研究气候变化对生态系统的影响,并且可以量化生态 系统对大气的反馈信息。然而这些模型通常只关注大气、地表植被和土壤之间的水 和碳的纵向转移,从而忽略了其在模型空间单元中的横向移动。这样可能会导致模 型对于水和碳平衡的计算不够准确和全面,尤其在气候敏感的高纬度极地地区,这 种偏差可能会更大。

本论文旨在解决动态生态系统模型中的这个局限性问题。基于目前最先进的动态生态系统模型 LPJ-GUESS,我们利用和结合空间地形指数实现了模拟水和碳(主要是土壤溶解性有机碳)在空间单元中的相互作用。文中所提出来的建模方法和算法被应用到坐落于亚北极地区,瑞典北部的 Stordalen 流域,以探索模型新方法对估算水文和生态过程的潜在影响。在整个应用过程中,我们采用了大量的观测数据集来进行模型评估。

我们提出了一种基于网格单元对网格单元的分布式水文(DH)方法来动态模拟流域 内的水流。我们进一步比较了不同的流量路径算法对于模拟水文和生态过程的影响。 结果表明,当我们在 Stordalen 流域内使用结合了分布式水文方法的模型时,该模型 对于径流估算的精度比以往有所提高。同时实验结果也表明了流量路径算法的选择 会对研究区域内水通量和碳通量的估算产生重大的影响。基于以上结果,我们(在 高空间分辨率下)利用该模型对流域内的碳预算有了一个更为完整的估算。我们发 现,Stordalen 流域现在是一个碳汇,并且在不久的将来有可能成为一个更大的碳汇。 然而这一预测结果非常地依赖于空气中二氧化碳浓度的增加对流域内植被固碳能力 的影响,同时还受流域内泥炭地里甲烷的排放量的影响。除此之外,该模型进一步 扩展了对土壤水中的溶解性有机碳(DOC)的含量及其空间横向传输的动态模拟。 模拟的输出表明,土壤中 DOC 的动态变化主要受 DOC 的产生量和矿化作用的影响, 潮湿的沼泽泥炭地在现在和将来都会是土壤 DOC 输出的热点区域。

总而言之,本论文展示了在 LPJ-GUESS 模型中加入用以描述水流的地形指数的可行性,同时证明了在高纬度地区模拟碳动态变化时对于水文条件的空间异质性的考量的重要性。此外,本论文还说明了在高空间分辨率下,综合考虑垂直和水平碳通量可以提供更准确和更完整的碳预算的估计,也可以动态地模拟不同的碳成分在应对气候变化时产生的不同结果。

Everything should be made as simple as possible, but not simpler -----A. Einstein

Contents

1.	Introduction	1
	1.1. High latitude climate change	1
	1.2. Permafrost and peatland carbon cycling	2
	1.2.1. Permafrost	2
	1.2.2. Northern peatland	3
	1.3. Water interactions with the carbon cycle 1.3.1. Terrestrial and aquatic system interactions	4 5
	1.4. Dynamic ecosystem modelling	6
	 1.5. Distributed hydrological modelling and ecohydrological 1.5.1. Distributed hydrological models and topograph 1.5.2. Ecohydrological modelling 	al modelling 6 ny 6 7
	1.6. Linking distributed hydrological processes to dynan modelling	nic vegetation 8
2.	Aims and objectives	9
3.	Study area and data	11
	3.1. Stordalen catchment	11
	3.2. Climate data and other inputs	12
	3.3. Calibration and evaluation data	13
4.	Methods	15
	4.1. LPJ-GUESS and LPJ-GUESS WHyMe	15
	4.2. Topographical-indices based hydrological scheme	17
	4.3. Flow algorithms comparison	18
	4.4. Catchment carbon budget	19
	4.5. Simulations with high spatial resolution	20
	4.6. Soil organic carbon profiles and riparian zone	20
	4.7. Soil water DOC and lateral transport	21
	4.8. Parameterization and sensitivity testing	22
5.	Results and discussion	23
	5.1. From topographical variations to water partitionin movement (Paper I)	g and lateral 23

	5.2. From different flow routing to ecosystem carbon flu importance of considering water flow algorithms (Paper II)	xes: the 24	
	5.3. From catchment water cycling to catchment carbon cyc importance of considering vegetation dynamics and carbon fluxes spatial resolution (Paper III)	ling: the at a high 25	
	5.4. From water flow to hydrological mass transport: the import modelling DOC dynamics (Paper IV)	rtance of 27	
6.	Conclusions	29	
7.	Future developments and applications	31	
Acknowledgements			
Refer	rences	35	

Abbreviations

C_{CH4:} Potential carbon pool for methanogens DA: Drainage Area **DEM: Digital Elevation Model** DH: Distributed Hydrology DOC: Dissolved Organic Carbon DGVM: Dynamic Global Vegetation Model fSOC: Fast (i.e. with a high turnover rate) Soil Organic Carbon GCM: General Circulation Model **GPP:** Gross Primary Productivity LPJ-GUESS: Lund-Potsdam-Jena General Ecosystem Simulator MF: Multiple Flow NEE: Net Ecosystem Exchange NPP: Net Primary Productivity **PFTs: Plant Functional Types RCM: Regional Climate Model** R_a: autotrophic Respiration Rexud: Root exudates R_{h:} heteotrophic Respiration S: Slope SF: Single Flow SPSOC: Sorbed Potential Soluble Organic Carbon sSOC: slow (i.e. with a low turnover rate) Soil Organic Carbon TWI: Topographical Wetness Index TFM: Triangular Form-based Multiple flow WHyMe: Wetland Hydrology and Methane WTP: Water Table Position

1. Introduction

1.1. High latitude climate change

Since the 1980s, the observed mean annual air temperature in the Arctic/Subarctic region has increased twice as much as in the rest of the world (AMAP, 2012). Warming can accelerate shrinkage of sea ice cover, permafrost (ground that is frozen for at least two consecutive years) thawing, glacier retreat and reduction in snow-cover duration as well as extent (IPCC, 2013). Earlier melting of ice and snow results in more radiation being absorbed by soil, vegetation and ocean surfaces which could in turn increase air temperatures and cause yet more snow and ice melting (Snyder, 2013). Stronger winter warming, relative to summer warming, has been observed (Shindell et al., 1999, AMAP, 2012), which has prolonged the growing season in the Arctic/Subarctic region (IPCC, 2013). This was further supported by Xu et al. (2013) who analysed satellite data between 1982 and 2012 and found that around one-third of the Arctic/Subarctic biosphere has greened over the period. Long-term ground-observations have also found that trees and tall shrubs have started to shift upward to higher elevations and poleward to higher latitudes in response to the warming (Shiyatov et al., 2007, Rundqvist et al., 2011, Callaghan et al., 2013). From a carbon cycle perspective, a greener Arctic will likely sequester more carbon, which will have a negative feedback (cooling) on the atmospheric warming. However, this feedback is accompanied by positive feedbacks (warming) resulting from the reduced albedo of the greener land surface (Snyder, 2013) and taller vegetation especially in snow-covered seasons (Miller & Smith, 2012, Zhang et al., 2013).

In high latitudes, annual precipitation has increased by 5% since the 1950s (AMAP, 2012) but has shown large inter-annual variability. Generally, global climate models predict an increase in annual precipitation through the 21^{st} century under all scenarios (Kattsov *et al.*, 2007, Solomon *et al.*, 2009, IPCC, 2013). Winter and spring precipitation are expected to increase most (Kattsov *et al.*, 2007, AMAP, 2012) and could be accompanied by more frequent rain events and mid-winter melting (Burn *et al.*, 2004). Snowmelt normally produces the highest runoff through a year. Warmer winters are likely to shorten the duration of snow-cover (Euskirchen *et al.*, 2007), reduce intensive snowfall and increase rain-on-snow events (Woo, 2012). The peak in runoff during the snowmelt season is likely to

decrease but the winter baseflow (deep groundwater flow) may increase (St. Jacques & Sauchyn, 2009). However, these changes depend on the magnitude of permafrost thaw and the amount of snowfall and rain during the winter. In addition, an earlier snowmelt could lead to an earlier ice break-up in rivers and lakes, due to direct heat inputs from runoff as well as the subsequent reduction in albedo.

1.2. Permafrost and peatland carbon cycling

1.2.1. Permafrost

Around 50% of the global soil organic carbon (SOC) is stored in high latitude soils (Tarnocai *et al.*, 2009), especially in permafrost and peatland soils. The organic carbon stored in high latitude soils is approximately twice the size of all the carbon stored in the Earth's atmosphere(AMAP, 2012, IPCC, 2013). With a temperature increase and the subsequent permafrost thawing in this region, a substantial amount of the stored ('old') organic carbon in high latitude soils could be released to the atmosphere (Zimov *et al.*, 2006, Schuur *et al.*, 2009) (Fig. 1). These processes can provide strong positive feedbacks to climate change (Koven *et al.*, 2011). Another important consideration is that methane (CH₄) production and release becomes a more common pathway of carbon loss with continuous permafrost thaw (Zimov *et al.*, 2006). As CH_4 is a much stronger heat-trapping greenhouse gas than carbon dioxide (CO₂), the release from wet permafrost regions (e.g. thermokarst lakes) can substantially contribute to regional and global climate change (IPCC, 2013).



Figure 1. Tundra soil carbon balance in a changing climate (Modified from the source: AMAP (2012)).

1.2.2. Northern peatland

Around 50% of the global wetlands are located in high latitudes (Aselmann & Crutzen, 1989, Avis *et al.*, 2011). Peatlands are permanent inundated wetlands where organic matter (peat) has accumulated under waterlogged conditions (Wania, 2007). Generally, northern peatlands exist where the annual temperature is between -12° C to 5°C and annual precipitation is between 200 mm and 1000 mm (Yu, 2012). Peatland soils contain one-third of the global soil carbon (Gorham, 1991, Roulet *et al.*, 2007) and play a vital role in carbon cycling for two reasons: firstly, carbon accumulation from plant materials exceeds decomposition rates (a negative feedback to climate warming); secondly, a large quantity of carbon is emitted as CH₄ in peatland regions due to the anoxic environment (a positive feedback to climate warming). Peat accumulation and decomposition rates are influenced by vegetation primary production, soil hydrological conditions, water table position (WTP) and temperature. Among them, WTP, as it determines the transition between aerobic and anaerobic decomposition, is seen as the most important factor (Roulet *et al.*, 2007).

In northern latitudes, peatland formation and development are closely associated with soil freezing-thawing processes. Permafrost formation and degradation change the landscape surface, as well as the peatland hydrology and thermal properties (Wania, 2007). Based on surface hydrology and plant communities, northern peatlands can be divided into two major categories: dry permafrostplateau palsa and wet fen permafrost-free peatland (Bäckstrand et al., 2010). With permafrost thaw, another type of intermediate bog-like peatland forms, with relatively wetter conditions than the palsa type (Christensen *et al.*, 2012). Generally, drier palsas release the smallest amount of CH₄, while wet fen areas have the highest CH₄ release (Limpens et al., 2008). With continuous permafrost thawing (ground subsidence) and higher runoff in northern latitudes, areal cover of wet fen peatlands is likely to increase (Malmer et al., 2005) which might result in higher CH_4 emissions on short time scales. However, the wetting of peatland may be counteracted by a potential increase in evapotranspiration and the deepening of permafrost with increased vertical drainage in the future (Avis *et al.*, 2011). Another important factor regulating the contribution of peatland-processes to global climate is the areal extent of peatlands. In a recent review, Yu (2012) concluded that carbon fluxes from northern peatlands were largely determined by peatland expansion dynamics (determined using basal ¹⁴C dates) during the Holocene. There is still considerable uncertainty regarding the spatial extent of peatlands in the future (Koven et al., 2011).

1.3. Water interactions with the carbon cycle

Generally, terrestrial vegetation growth and carbon cycling are intrinsically coupled with water cycling (Fig. 2). Soil moisture is one of the key factors influencing vegetation growth, plant phenology, nutrient transport and soil respiration. In turn, vegetation influences water cycling through intercepting precipitation (rainfall and/or snow), taking up water through roots, holding more water in soils, and transpiring to the atmosphere. Moreover, vegetation litter layers can increase surface roughness and impact water partitioning between infiltration and surface runoff (Chen *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 2. Coupled processes between vegetation (Veg) dynamics/carbon cycling and water cycling (modified from Chen *et al.* (2014)). Blue lines represent hydrological cycles impacting vegetation dynamics and soil carbon cycling; whereas green lines represent vegetation impacts on hydrological cycles.

In northern peatlands, an important characteristic in terms of water interacting with carbon cycling is the soil water inundation mechanism (dashed line in Fig. 2) which determines vegetation composition and strongly impacts the emission of CH_4 as well as ecosystem production and respiration (Watts *et al.*, 2014). Beyond that, a field experiment in Greenland revealed that soil moisture as a driving variable can determine the sink/source sign of the net ecosystem exchange (NEE)

in high-level warming experiments (Sharp *et al.*, 2013) through impacting microbial activities and nutrient cycling. Furthermore, Yi *et al.* (2014) highlighted the importance of spring hydrology in promoting summer net carbon uptake in northern ecosystems. In addition, soil water can greatly influence thermal properties of unfrozen soil, which plays an important role in regulating climate warming effects on permafrost conditions (Wania *et al.*, 2009a).

1.3.1. Terrestrial and aquatic system interactions

Water flow on and through the terrestrial landscape carrying dissolved organic carbon (DOC) affects water quality, the productivity of aquatic vegetation and microbial activity in aquatic systems (Wrona et al., 2006). Laterally transported DOC from terrestrial to aquatic ecosystems can represent a significant fraction of ecosystem fixed carbon and have significant impacts on aquatic carbon cycling (Freeman et al., 2004). Across large areas of northern latitudes, the DOC concentration has recently increased in streams and lakes (Monteith et al., 2007). With permafrost thaw and runoff responses to climate change, there is a high possibility that previously frozen soils could become hydrologically accessible and water flowing through unfrozen soils may bring out more DOC (Frey & Smith, 2005, Jantze et al., 2013) to downstream aquatic systems. The important roles of inland water in regulating global C cycling was highlighted by Tranvik et al. (2009) and the authors pointed out that the carbon emissions from inland waters to the atmosphere are of a similar magnitude to global terrestrial net ecosystem production. Considering the predominant carbon sources originating from terrestrial ecosystems and intense organic carbon mineralization in aquatic systems, it is fundamentally important to accurately quantify the lateral transports of DOC from terrestrial ecosystems.

The riparian zone, as the interface between land and rivers or streams, regulates stream chemistry dynamics (Bishop *et al.*, 2004, Seibert *et al.*, 2009) and also exerts a major control on runoff generation. The riparian zone often has distinct soil (more organic matter near the soil surface) and vegetation characteristics compared to the surrounding landscape. During the high flow season, the generated runoff from upland areas passing through the shallow organic-rich layer in the riparian zone can significantly alter the soil water chemistry compared with the low flow season (Grabs *et al.*, 2012). Due to its hydrological and biogeochemical regulatory function, the riparian zone is recognized as an important area for considering terrestrial and aquatic ecosystem interactions.

1.4. Dynamic ecosystem modelling

Dynamic global vegetation models (DGVMs) are frequently used to investigate the influences of vegetation dynamics and global biogeochemical fluxes on climate change and vice versa. The developments of DGVMs are mainly based on the equilibrium biome models (Prentice *et al.*, 1992), vegetation physiological models (Farquhar *et al.*, 1980, Haxeltine & Prentice, 1996) and biogeochemistry models (Melillo *et al.*, 1993, Parton *et al.*, 1994), but DGVMs were further developed to represent vegetation dynamics as well as dynamic transitions between biomes (Prentice *et al.*, 1993, Smith *et al.*, 2001, Sitch *et al.*, 2003). The Lund-Potsdam-Jena General Ecosystem Simulator (LPJ-GUESS) (Smith *et al.*, 2001) is a DGVM that includes individual-level representations of vegetation dynamics and competition for resources, but which shares some process descriptions with the area-based LPJ-DGVM.

One goal of dynamic ecosystem modelling is to explicitly simulate carbon and water fluxes between atmosphere, vegetation and soils at regional and global scales. The LPJ family of models has often been applied to simulate regional and global carbon fluxes (Ahlström *et al.*, 2012, McGuire *et al.*, 2012), vegetation dynamics (Hickler *et al.*, 2004, Hickler *et al.*, 2012, Miller & Smith, 2012), and water fluxes (Gerten *et al.*, 2004). However, one of the limitations for the regional and/or global carbon budget estimations is that the spatial resolutions are generally too coarse to specifically account for inland water, which often covers quite small extents (Battin *et al.*, 2009). This could result in large uncertainties in regional and global carbon budget estimations, due to the high emissions from inland water that cannot be replaced by terrestrial ecosystem process descriptions. In addition, the independent grid cell simulations in most DGVMs ignore lateral water and mass transports across landscapes (Naden *et al.*, 2000).

1.5. Distributed hydrological modelling and ecohydrological modelling

1.5.1. Distributed hydrological models and topography

To consider water and/or mass flow across landscapes as well as the interactions with aquatic systems, spatially distributed hydrological processes are required to model runoff generation as well as flow routings within certain boundaries (e.g. a catchment). The method of describing distributed hydrological processes varies in the approximation of the flow network and the determining factors for water flow 6

traveling time, e.g. soil texture, topography, soil freezing and hydrogeology (Döll & Fiedler, 2008). Generally, for global hydrological models, flow routing is linked to a coarse-resolution flow network (Gong *et al.*, 2009), ranging from a few kilometres to a few degrees in spatial extent. The estimated water travelling time can be spatially variable or temporal variable, or both, or be based on global fixed values (Arora & Boer, 1999, Döll *et al.*, 2003, Rost *et al.*, 2008). For catchment hydrology, more spatially explicit hydrological processes have been presented by integrating vegetation influences, soil properties, detailed water paths as well as local climate conditions (Tague & Band, 2004).

Topography describes the shape of the earth surface and plays a vital role in determining surface water movement and in characterising microclimate, affecting vegetation distributions as well as soil moisture conditions (Zinko et al., 2005, Wilson et al., 2007). Topography is often described as the first-order control of lateral water movements and accumulation (Moore et al., 1991, Wilson et al., 2000) and topographical indices are widely implemented at different scales in hydrological models to describe water flow (Beven & Kirkby, 1979, Wigmosta et al., 1994). Based on the implementation schemes of topographical indices in distributing flow, process-based catchment hydrological modelling can generally be divided into two categories: implicit statistical models (Beven & Kirkby, 1979, Tague & Band, 2001) and explicit process-based models (Wigmosta et al., 1994, Tague & Band, 2004). The implicit statistical models often describe lateral water flow by using statistical distributions of saturation deficits across the entire catchment, while the explicit models transfer water explicitly from cell to cell (Tague & Band, 2001). Due to their lower computational requirements, implicit water distribution methods are widely implemented in multiple fields, ranging from modelling soil moisture distribution to ecological applications (Moore et al., 1991, Zinko et al., 2005, Kopecký & Čížková, 2010, Wolf, 2011, Persson et al., 2012). Explicit water distribution methods are generally implemented in regions with sufficient spatial information describing local soil conditions.

1.5.2. Ecohydrological modelling

Most hydrological models have a simplified representation of vegetation or depend on inputs from other models to treat vegetation effects. The emergence of ecohydrological models has overcome this limitation by considering the hydrological interactions with ecological and biogeochemical processes in a hydrological independent unit (Krysanova & Arnold, 2008, Asbjornsen *et al.*, 2011). Current ecohydrological models differ, however, in how they represent the interactions between ecological and hydrological processes. In a recent review by Chen *et al.* (2014), the authors grouped all ecohydrological models into two types:

one-way coupling models and mutual-way coupling models. One-way coupling models, like DHSVM (Wigmosta *et al.*, 1994) and SHE (Abbott *et al.*, 1986), only consider vegetation effects on hydrological cycles (Fig. 2 dashed green lines) without hydrological feedbacks on vegetation dynamics. Mutual-way coupling treats both vegetation influences on hydrological processes and hydrological impacts on vegetation dynamics, e.g., SWAT (Arnold & Fohrer, 2005) and RHESSys (Tague & Band, 2004). However, the mutual-coupling models differ in the complexity of their vegetation dynamics representations. With more complex interactions between hydrological cycling and vegetation dynamics, the models tend to need more computational resources and are therefore more suitable for applications in smaller catchments.

1.6. Linking distributed hydrological processes to dynamic vegetation modelling

Similar to the mutual-way coupling in ecohydrological modelling described above, spatially linking independent units in dynamic vegetation models with hydrological processes enables us to include plant-water interactions. The link also provides a platform to explore ecohydrological feedbacks on other ecosystem processes, e.g. soil biogeochemical processes (D'Odorico et al., 2010). Integrating distributed hydrological processes into a DGVM could provide a complete and consistent estimation of hydrological and carbon cycles, which is of great importance for hydrological and climatically sensitive regions. Furthermore, the carbon cycling in dynamic ecosystem models can, when distributed hydrological processes are included, make it possible to model soil water DOC concentration and catchment DOC exports. Until now, only very few ecosystem models have attempted to integrate DOC dynamics with terrestrial C cycling (Parton et al., 1994, Currie & Aber, 1997, Neff & Asner, 2001, Michalzik et al., 2003, Wu et al., 2013), and the processes in these models vary widely in degrees of complexity, especially for soil-specialized DOC models. Most importantly, the dynamics of vegetation (e.g. resource competition, mortality, and disturbance) are generally not explicitly represented.

2. Aims and objectives

The aim of this PhD thesis is to quantify and evaluate the impacts of hydrological processes on ecosystem vegetation dynamics and carbon cycling at a catchment scale. The considered hydrological processes include spatial water movements *on* and *through* the landscape and hydrological mass (DOC) transport within the catchment boundary. By integrating these spatially distributed hydrological processes into the dynamic ecosystem model LPJ-GUESS, we can integrate both vertical (atmosphere-vegetation-soil) and horizontal carbon fluxes (DOC export) and then assess the catchment carbon budget. To achieve this aim, the study is divided into the following four steps:

- 1. To extend one-dimensional water flow modelling among atmospherevegetation-soil in LPJ-GUESS to three-dimensional water flow through the landscape within the catchment boundary based on topographical indices, and to further evaluate the impacts of the integrated distributed hydrological processes on ecosystem-level carbon fluxes (Papers I & II);
- 2. To investigate the potential influences of integrating different flow algorithms on modelled hydrological and carbon fluxes in the catchment (Paper II);
- 3. To build up a catchment-level carbon budget by integrating both terrestrial and aquatic system carbon fluxes and to investigate the interacting dynamics of different carbon components and their contributions to the catchment carbon budget in a warming future (Paper III);
- 4. To dynamically model soil water DOC concentration as well as DOC routing within the catchment and to link soil DOC exports with vegetation composition, soil organic carbon (SOC), soil properties and hydrological conditions (Paper IV).

3. Study area and data

3.1. Stordalen catchment

The Stordalen catchment (covering 16 km^2) is located in northern Sweden (Fig. 3) and situated 9.5 km east of the Abisko Naturvetenskapliga Station (ANS, Abisko research station). The catchment is in the discontinuous permafrost zone and permafrost is mainly found in the palsa peatland located at lower elevations. The topography of the catchment is dominated by a north-facing mountainside in its southern part, with lower flat region in the northern part. The mean air temperature was -0.7° C for the period 1913-2002 (Christensen *et al.*, 2004) and 0.49° C for the period 2002-2011 (Callaghan *et al.*, 2013) based on the ANS records. Mean annual precipitation increased from 304 mm for 1961-1990 to 362 mm for 1997-2007 (Margareta *et al.*, 2013), followed by very low precipitation (254 mm on average) for 2008-2010 (Paper IV). The land cover types consist of tundra heath, birch forest, dry palsa, semi-wet bog-like *Sphagnum* peatland, wet fen *Eriophorum* peatland, rivers and lakes. The detailed species found in this catchment are listed in Paper III.



Figure 3. Location of the Stordalen catchment and a digital elevation model (DEM) map with a draped aerial photograph are shown on the left (elevation is enhanced three times for visual effect). The monthly average temperature (T) and precipitation (prec.) for the period of 2001-2012 are shown on the right panel (Paper IV). Each dot in the map represents a DOC and runoff observation point (Paper I, II and IV).

3.2. Climate data and other inputs

To run LPJ-GUESS for the Stordalen catchment, a high spatial resolution (50 m) climate dataset were used in Papers I-IV. The monthly temperature at 50 m resolution for 1913-2000 were developed by Yang et al. (2011) and the development of these data was based on a wide range of observations from the weather stations near ANS, local temperature measurements as well as considering the effects of the Torneträsk lake close to the catchment. The monthly precipitation and cloudiness data (1913-2000) at 50 m resolution were downscaled (bilinear interpolation) from 10 min resolution using CRU TS 1.2 data (Mitchell et al., 2004). During the downscaling process the precipitation data were corrected by considering the influences of topography as well as using historical measurements of precipitation from the ANS records. In Paper I, the simulated historical period is from 1913 to 2010 and additional ten years (2001-2010) of precipitation data were obtained from ANS. The precipitation data were interpolated to the whole catchment according to the observation that annual precipitation increases by 6.5% for every 100 m of altitude (Olefeldt et al., 2013). The monthly temperatures for 2001-2010 in Paper I were determined by applying temperature anomalies from the output of the Rossby Centre Atmosphere Ocean (RCAO) regional climate model for a grid cell near Stordalen to the 50 m resolution climate data. In Paper II-IV, two more years (2011-2012) of monthly precipitation data as well as twelve years (2001-2012) of monthly temperature data were further collected and used. In Papers I-IV, the monthly cloudiness data for 2001-2012 were simply repeated using the forcing from 1990 to 2000. Additionally, annual atmospheric CO₂ concentrations for the period 1913-2010 were also used and based on (McGuire et al., 2001) and TRENDS (http://cdiac.esd.ornl.gov/trends/co2/contents.htm). In Paper III, a future scenario was applied and was based on the anomalies (including temperature, precipitation and cloudiness) between the simulated outputs from RCAO and the historical dataset at 50 m resolution. The RCAO climate data was downscaled for the Arctic region using boundary forcing from a general circulation model forced by the A1B SRES emission scenario for 2013-2080 (Zhang et al., 2013). A DEM was provided by the National Land Survey of Sweden and was used in Papers I-IV to calculate topographic indices. A soil map in vector format was provided by the Geological Survey of Sweden and was used to identify different soil types in Papers I-IV.

3.3. Calibration and evaluation data

In this thesis, a wide range of observation data from the Stordalen catchment were used (Table 1) to calibrate and evaluate the model's performance. The majority of data were collected during 2001-2012.

Table 1. Summary of the observation data used in Papers I-IV to evaluate model's performance. The climate forcing data are not presented here.

Data	Time period	Location	Reference	Paper
Daily runoff at sampling points	2007-2009	Distributed points	(Olefeldt et al., 2013)	I&II
Digitized vegetation map	1997	Whole catchment	National Land Survey of Sweden	I
Daily water table position (WTP)	Summer season 2003-2012	Stordalen peatland	(Petrescu et al., 2008)	Π
Eddy Covariance- NEE	2006-2008	Wet fen <i>Eriophorum</i> peatland	(Christensen et al., 2012)	II&III
Dark Chamber respiration	Summer season 2004-2005 and 2007-2008	Stordalen peatland	(Bäckstrand et al., 2010)	II
Active layer depth	September 1978-2011	Storflaket peatland	(Åkerman & Johansson, 2008)	Π
Eddy Covariance- NEE	2008-2009	Palsa/ <i>Sphagnum</i> peatland	(Olefeldt et al., 2012)	III
Eddy Covariance-CH ₄	2006-2007	Wet fen <i>Eriophorum</i> peatland	(Jackowicz-Korczyński et al., 2010)	Ш
Eddy Covariance- NEE	2007-2010	Birch forest	(Heliasz, 2012)	ш
Analysed DOC concentration	2008	Stordalen peatland	(Olefeldt & Roulet, 2012)	Ш
Analysed DOC concentration and export	2007-2009	Distributed points	(Olefeldt et al., 2013)	III&IV
Analysed DIC export	2007-2009	Distributed points	(Olefeldt et al., 2013)	ш
Catchment-level CO ₂ and CH ₄ emissions from lakes and rivers	2008-2011	Whole catchment	(Lundin et al., 2013)	III

4. Methods

4.1. LPJ-GUESS and LPJ-GUESS WHyMe

LPJ-GUESS is a climate-driven and process-based dynamic ecosystem model which includes explicit representations of vegetation dynamics (derived from a forest gap model, Smith et al. (2001)) and soil biogeochemistry (Sitch et al., 2003). The forest structure and dynamics in LPJ-GUESS are represented by plant functional types (PFTs) of different age classes (cohorts) competing for light and soil resources within different replicate patches in each grid cell (Smith *et al.*, 2014). PFTs are used to group plants on the basis of their physiological, phenological and morphological characteristics (Wolf et al., 2008b, Hickler et al., 2012). Three soil carbon pools are distinguished based on their different prescribed turnover rates: litter, fast and slow soil organic matter pools (Sitch et al., 2003). The model distinguishes processes occurring at different time-scales. For instance, photosynthesis, respiration and soil decomposition are modelled on daily basis/step, whereas plant growth, vegetation dynamics (mortality, establishment and disturbance) and carbon allocation are modelled on annual basis/step (Hickler et al., 2004). Recently, nitrogen (N) cycling and N limitation on plant production have also been included in a version of LPJ-GUESS (Smith et al., 2014).

Water cycling between atmosphere-vegetation-soil is described in Gerten *et al.* (2004) and the modelled water processes include vegetation interception, transpiration, infiltration, percolation, soil evaporation and runoff (Fig. 4, vegetation water balance). Vegetation-intercepted water amount is a function of plant functional types (PFTs), leaf area index (LAI) and precipitation, whereas vegetation transpiration water is the smaller value of atmospheric-demand and plant-controlled-supply. The plant-controlled-supply is related to PFTs root distribution and soil water content (Sitch *et al.*, 2003). Soil evaporation occurs on bare ground and is a function of soil water amount plus the antecedent soil water is in excess of soil water holding capacity, surface and subsurface runoff will be generated.



Figure 4. Schematic diagram of water and carbon cycling in LPJ-GUESS and/or in LPJ-GUESS WHyMe. The model developments included in this thesis are also presented. The four papers in this thesis are denoted with P-I, P-II, P-III, P-IV.

An Arctic-enabled version of LPJ-GUESS (henceforth referred to as LPJ-GUESS WHyMe) has been developed (Miller & Smith, 2012) by including the soil permafrost, peatland vegetation and peatland hydrology descriptions first included in LPJ-WHvMe (i.e. LPJ-DGVM with Wetland Hydrology and Methane) (Wania et al., 2009a, 2009b, 2010) (Fig. 5). The mineral soil hydrology mainly follows the standard LPJ-GUESS scheme described above. However, the peatland hydrology has been adapted to use an acrotelm-catotelm soil structure (Granberg *et al.*, 1999), assuming a permanently inundated body of peat underlying the top 0.3 m, down to 2 m depth (extended from 1.5 m soil depth in LPJ-GUESS), while the top 0.3 m has a fluctuating water table. In addition, standing water (up to 100 mm) is allowed for peat soils. In LPJ-GUESS WHyMe, the soil temperature at each 100 mm soil layer is updated daily using the Crank-Nicolson algorithm (Crank & Nicolson, 1996) for both mineral and peatland soils, and takes into account the effect of soil water freezing and thawing. This adds soil freezing effects to water and carbon cycling. In addition, two new peatland PFTs and a vegetation inundation stress mechanism have been updated in LPJ-GUESS WHvMe. To account for the methane (CH₄) that is mainly released from peatland, an extra carbon pool for methanogens has been added in LPJ-GUESS WHyMe (Wania et al., 2010). The main source for this carbon pool includes root exudates and easilydecomposed materials (Fig. 4, peatland in the catchment carbon balance box).

Both LPJ-GUESS and LPJ-GUESS WHyMe remove the generated runoff from the model domain without considering interactions with downslope grid cells, which is crucial for consideration of spatial variability of soil moisture and hydrological and carbon fluxes at the catchment scale (Tague & Band, 2001, Wolf, 2011). Therefore, a main focus of this thesis has been to describe lateral water movement between grid cells within the catchment boundary (see P-I&II in grey-shaded area, Fig. 4).



Figure 5. Flowchart of the related model developments and the corresponding model names. The model descriptions can be found in each specified reference.

4.2. Topographical-indices based hydrological scheme

A distributed hydrological scheme has been proposed and implemented within the framework of LPJ-GUESS (Paper I). The scheme utilizes three topographical indices to partition flow and determine flow routing in the catchment. The three indices used in the model are drainage area (DA), flow direction (Fdir) and slope (S) (Fig. 6a). The indices were extracted from the DEM at 50 m resolution and a single flow (SF) algorithm was chosen to estimate the indices (O'Callaghan & Mark, 1984). The values of DA determine how many upslope cells drain to a specific cell as well as the runoff accumulation order for each day (colour bar in Fig. 6b). Moreover, *Fdir* connects each grid cell with its neighbouring cells by lateral surface flow (arrows in Fig. 6b) and the value of S influences runoff generation. This steady-state information about flow sequences (DA), cell connections (Fdir) and slope (S) are used as grid cell input attributes to LPJ-GUESS (Fig. 6a). To achieve flow accumulation within the catchment boundary at a daily time scale, the simulation order in LPJ-GUESS was changed from cell-bycell to day-by-day. At the end of each day, the generated surface runoff flows to the pointed neighbouring downslope cell. For the whole catchment, water

accumulation starts from the catchment divide and ends at the catchment outlet (Fig. 6b).



Figure 6. Flowchart of integration of topographical indices into LPJ-GUESS (a) and schematic illustration of cell-to-cell flow accumulation within the catchment boundary (b) (modified from Fig. 1 in Paper I).

4.3. Flow algorithms comparison

The flow algorithm chosen to estimate topographical indices in Paper I is D8, (O'Callaghan & Mark, 1984) which is one of the most widely-used SF algorithms (Fairfield & Leymarie, 1991, Costa-Cabral & Burges, 1994, Orlandini et al., 2003). Generally, SF algorithms only consider parallel flow and flow convergence, which may not produce realistic flow patterns. Another group of flow algorithms are the multiple flow (MF) algorithms, where both flow divergence and convergence are considered (Seibert & McGlynn, 2007, Zhou et al., 2011, Pilesjö & Hasan, 2014). Existing MF algorithms differ mainly in how they partition the flow to multiple downslope cells, which could cause the estimation of flow pathways to vary to a large degree. A recently-developed Triangular Form-based Multiple (TFM) flow algorithm (Pilesjö & Hasan, 2014) agrees more closely with theoretical estimations of specific catchment area (SCA) compared with other MF algorithms. By dividing a grid cell into eight planar triangular facets, the TFM algorithm can deal with the detailed topographical variations within grid cells. Water flow from each facet can be routed to other facets in the same grid cell or to neighbouring cells (Pilesjö & Hasan, 2014). Furthermore, the flow estimation over flat surfaces has also been improved (Hasan et al., 2012). Therefore, one SF (D8) and one MF (TFM) algorithm were incorporated into LPJ-GUESS WHyMe to compare and

evaluate the influence of different flow distribution on modelled catchment hydrological and carbon fluxes.

In contrast to the SF algorithm implementation on the LPJ-GUESS platform, the TFM algorithm-extracted *Fdir* of a specific cell may connect to multiple neighbouring cells. Therefore, flow partition fractions to multiple neighbouring cells are recorded for each grid cell. All the model settings and input data are kept the same except for the use of different flow algorithms to derive topographical indices to describe flow in the model (Paper II). Additionally, the subsurface lateral flow is modelled based on the quasi three-dimensional saturated ground flow algorithms (Wigmosta *et al.*, 1994). The grid cell flow connectivity is kept the same as surface flow for both the SF and the TFM algorithms, assuming the slope of the hydraulic head is parallel to the ground surface. A variety of observed data, including runoff, WTP, peatland net ecosystem exchange (NEE) and soil respiration, have been used to evaluate the differences generated from the two flow algorithms.

4.4. Catchment carbon budget

The catchment is a hydrological unit and is separated from neighbouring areas by its watershed boundary. It is commonly assumed that there is no lateral water flow from outside the boundary into the catchment. Each drop of precipitation that is not stored, evaporated or transpired, will travel within the catchment and reach the catchment outlets. From a carbon budget perspective, the estimation of a carbon budget using the catchment as a unit (Paper III) can assume that there are no lateral waterborne carbon fluxes into the catchment and the catchment unit can be viewed as a closed system where no lateral water flow from outside the catchment can influence vegetation and the carbon cycle. Furthermore, with the availability of observed CO₂ and CH₄ fluxes from lakes and rivers (Lundin *et al.*, 2013) in the Stordalen catchment, the carbon fluxes from the aquatic systems can also be included and scaled to the catchment-level carbon budget. The model simulates catchment vegetation composition as well as dynamics and the annual carbon fluxes from different vegetation classes are proportionally integrated into the catchment carbon budget based on the modelled vegetation distribution.

4.5. Simulations with high spatial resolution

Subarctic ecosystems are characterized by small-scale variations in vegetation composition, hydrological conditions, nutrient status and carbon fluxes (Lukeno & Billings, 1985, McGuire et al., 2002, Callaghan et al., 2013). Therefore, modelling exercises aiming to investigate carbon cycling in this type of complex ecosystem strongly require process simulations and climate driven data at high a spatial resolution. In contrast to conventional approaches using outputs from the Regional Climate Model (RCM) or Global Circulation Model (GCM) as climate inputs to run LPJ-GUESS (Koca et al., 2006, Morales et al., 2007, Ahlström et al., 2012), the model applications involved in this thesis are driven by 50 m resolution climate data (Yang et al., 2011) and the spatial resolution of the DEM is consistent with the climate data (see Section 3.2). The 50 m air temperature data have integrated the effects of large lakes (Torneträsk for Stordalen catchment), solar radiation, and sub-grid topographical variations on air temperature patterns. Without these high spatial resolution climate data, it would be impossible to implement our distributed hydrological scheme at the catchment scale (Paper I-IV) and especially to capture the small-scale peatland vegetation dynamics (Paper III).

4.6. Soil organic carbon profiles and riparian zone

Soil organic carbon (SOC) profiles in boreal and polar soils are generally characterized by higher SOC content concentration towards the surface compared with a more evenly distributed SOC profile in tropical and temperate soils (Lawrence & Slater, 2008). Soil organic carbon (SOC) provides the primary source for DOC production (Hagedorn *et al.*, 2004) and DOC exports are influenced by microbial activity, soil texture, hydrological conditions and temperature. These drivers may vary with soil depth, so modelling DOC fluxes requires a finer, vertically-resolved SOC profile.

In LPJ-GUESS, fast and slow soil carbon pools are evenly distributed in mineral soils. In paper IV, a modification of SOC vertical profiles for mineral soils has been implemented based on a log-log function from Jobbágy and Jackson (2000). The SOC fraction (%) in each 100 mm soil layer is estimated and implemented in the model (Paper IV). Different decrease rates of SOC fractions from soil surfaces have been assigned to tundra heath, birch forest and riparian soil types (Fig. 7a). For mineral soil, the amount of fast SOC (fSOC) is firstly distributed in top soil layers until its maximum depth. Thereafter, slow SOC (sSOC) is distributed in each soil layer down to the bottom layer (Fig. 4, DOC related processes box). For

peatland, fast and slow soil carbon pools are explicitly assigned to the actotelm and catotelm layers, respectively.

To reflect the influence of the riparian zone on catchment-level DOC exports (Paper IV), the identification of the riparian zone in the catchment is based on empirically setting a threshold value (DA = 120) for the estimated DA based on the TFM algorithm. All grid cells with DA values higher than this threshold value and not considered as peatland soil types, are grouped as riparian grid cells. The SOC profile distributes a higher fraction of SOC in the top layers for riparian zone soils (Figure 7a) and assumes more organic material soils.



Figure 7. Mineral soil organic carbon profiles (a) and a modified Langmuir sorption isotherm (b) based on Paper IV.

4.7. Soil water DOC and lateral transport

The modelling of DOC dynamics in LPJ-GUESS WHyMe includes five key processes (Fig. 4, DOC related processes box): DOC production, mineralization, sorption-desorption, diffusion and export (Paper IV). Two new soil carbon pools were added for the two soil layers: a DOC pool where organic carbon is dissolved in soil water, and a sorbed potentially soluble organic carbon (SPSOC) pool. Daily DOC production and mineralization rates are calculated based on the carbon pool size (fSOC and sSOC pool sizes for DOC production and DOC and SPSOC pool size for mineralization), a Q₁₀-based relationship for soil temperature responses and the basal microbial production or mineralization rate at 20°C (Yurova *et al.*, 2008). The diffusion processes between the upper layer (acrotelm layer for peatland) and lower layer (catotelm layer for peatland) is driven by soil water DOC concentration gradients. Furthermore, a modified Langmuir sorption isotherm is implemented for mineral soils (Lilienfein *et al.*, 2004) to describe the

sorption and desorption processes between the DOC and SPSOC carbon pools (Fig. 7b). For peatland, the sorption and desorption between DOC and SPSOC carbon pools were implemented as a linear equilibrium process. The modelled DOC export from the soil column is a function of daily runoff and soil DOC concentration. The lateral transport of DOC is determined by flow accumulation and distribution on a daily basis and the amount of water that can accumulate determines the amount of DOC that can be retained in each grid cell.

4.8. Parameterization and sensitivity testing

The parameterisation of saturated hydraulic conductivity (Ks) and the decay rate (f)with soil depth in Paper II was based on a quasi-random parameter sampling from the ranges obtained from the literature (Clapp & Hornberger, 1978, Freeze & Cherry, 1979, Famiglietti et al., 1992). The parameter combination that resulted in the lowest overall relative root mean square error (RRMSE) at the six observation points was selected (Paper II, Appendix). In paper IV, a sensitivity analysis (SA) was conducted for three upland grid cells with different climate conditions and one peatland grid cell in the catchment to test the influence of DOC-related processes (Fig. 4) on soil water DOC concentration. The variance-based Sobol sensitivity index (Saltelli et al., 2008) was chosen to quantify the newly-added parameters' contributions to the DOC concentration (Paper IV, Grid cell-level SA Section). The first-order Sobol index quantified each parameter's contribution to the variance of DOC concentration while the total Sobol index described the overall parameter importance by including each parameter's interactions with other parameters. By estimating Sobol indices for each parameter, the most influencial parameters for DOC exports could be identified. Thereafter, these parameters could be (randomly) sampled further for the catchment-level DOC export. Observed DOC export data were used to evaluate the model estimations.

5. Results and discussion

The main aim of this thesis is to explicitly explore different perspectives regarding hydrological process interactions with vegetation dynamics and carbon cycling in northern latitudes. To achieve this aim, a distributed hydrological approach has been proposed within the framework of the dynamic ecosystem model LPJ-GUESS (WHyMe). This was applied in an accessible subarctic Stordalen catchment in northern Sweden, where intense observations have been undertaken over a long time period. One of the important results arising from this work was that lateral water and DOC transports cannot be ignored when modelling ecosystems' water and carbon dynamics, especially in a climatically sensitive environment. In this thesis, the consequences of integrating lateral and vertical water movements were extensively evaluated using the widely available observation data from the Stordalen catchment. A summary of the results is presented in the following sections.

5.1. From topographical variations to water partitioning and lateral movement (Paper I)

To build up the missing component of considering water interactions between grid cells in LPJ-GUESS, a distributed hydrological scheme for implementing lateral water flow from cell to cell was proposed in Paper I. The developed model was named LPJ-Distributed Hydrology (LPJ-DH). The proposed scheme explicitly considered the topographical effects in determining runoff generation and lateral flow accumulation. The incorporated indices *DA* and *S* are the main components for the frequently-used topographical wetness index (TWI, ln(DA/tan(S))) (Beven & Kirkby, 1979). However, the explicit cell-to-cell routing method in our approach avoids the conventional, statistical way of using TWI to implicitly distribute water within the catchment. The extended model LPJ-DH was tested in the Stordalen catchment and comparisons of the modelled and the observed runoff at monthly and annual timescales showed the improved accuracy of runoff estimations as a result of considering topographical variations in the model. The spatial pattern of the runoff also showed the advantage of incorporating

topographical variations in the model; especially increasing the runoff estimations for the steeper areas of the catchment and in the low-lying peatland region. In Paper I, the focus was on the differences between LPJ-GUESS and LPJ-DH and no field measured biomass and carbon fluxes were used. The improved hydrological process descriptions in the catchment resulted in a significant increase in birch forest biomass and in a decrease in tundra summer-green shrub (< 2 m) biomass when comparing the average estimations over the simulation period (1913-2010) from LPJ-DH and LPJ-GUESS. The modelled soil carbon fluxes also showed a statistically significant response to the lateral flow in the catchment, which is in agreement with previous studies (Yurova *et al.*, 2007, Wolf, 2011).

The method proposed in Paper I is straightforward to implement and showed both the benefits of modelling hydrological fluxes and the statistically significant impacts on modelled ecological processes in the model. This implementation can be easily transferred to other ecosystem models where only vertical water movement has been considered. This is of importance in both hydrological and ecological perspectives (Naden et al., 2000). Another potential benefit of the cellto-cell routing method in Paper I is the effectiveness of capturing variable contributing areas, which is crucial when implementing flow routing for dry seasons or arid/semi-arid regions where limited water flow is only routed locally (Tague & Band, 2001, Sponseller & Fisher, 2008). This is impossible to capture in the statistical-based flow distribution models (Beven & Freer, 2001, Wolf, 2011). However, the proposed distributed hydrological scheme could result in an increase in model simulation time and memory demands, since all grid cells connected to each other are updated at each time step before moving to the next time step. Nonetheless, a semi-parallel simulation strategy in which grid cells with or without inflow run separately could improve the model efficiency.

5.2. From different flow routing to ecosystem carbon fluxes: the importance of considering water flow algorithms (Paper II)

In paper II, the effects of two flow algorithms on catchment hydrological and carbon fluxes were evaluated. Two sets of topographical indices calculated by the SF and TFM algorithms were integrated into LPJ-GUESS WHyMe to describe water routing in the Stordalen catchment. The new models were renamed to LPJG-WHyMe-SF and LPJG-WHyMe-TFM (Fig. 5). The results revealed that the TFM captured water transport amount across the landscape better than the SF algorithm.

The advantages of the TFM algorithm are mainly linked to the flow partitioning to multiple downslope cells as well as the modelled flow over flat regions. The evaluation of the influence of these two flow algorithms on estimating peatland NEE and respiration strongly indicates that the convergent way of driving flow accumulation in the SF algorithm could result in overall overestimations of vegetation uptake and soil respiration.

To our knowledge, this is the first study that evaluates the influence of different flow algorithms, not only on hydrological processes, but also on ecosystem carbon fluxes. It highlighted the importance of choosing appropriate flow routing algorithms, especially within hydrologically and climatically sensitive environments. Furthermore, in Paper II we only focus on evaluating the effects of two flow routing algorithms on the low-lying peatland carbon cycling. However, the impacts of flow routing algorithms on lateral redistribution of dissolved carbon and nutrients should also be considered (Hwang *et al.*, 2012). Although the evaluations of these two flow algorithms may be influenced by the model structure, the results demonstrate the necessity of considering the potential consequences of different flow algorithms.

5.3. From catchment water cycling to catchment carbon cycling: the importance of considering vegetation dynamics and carbon fluxes at a high spatial resolution (Paper III)

In Paper III, a catchment-level carbon budget was built using the extended model LPJG-WHyMe-TFM described in Paper II. The catchment carbon budget integrated the modelled carbon fluxes from different vegetation communities with the observed fluxes from the rivers and lakes. The catchment DOC export was empirically estimated based on the observed DOC concentration with the modelled runoff for birch forest areas.

This is the first process-based model study of the temporal evolution of a catchment-level carbon budget at a high spatial resolution (50 m). The model was shown to be able to capture the seasonality and magnitude of the observed carbon fluxes for different vegetation micro-types (mountain birch forest, tundra heath, *Eriophorum* peatland and *Sphagnum* peatland) within the catchment. The birch forest, the dominant vegetation in the Stordalen catchment, contributed significantly to the inter-annual variation of the catchment carbon budget. However, we note that to accurately estimate the carbon functioning of birch forest

in this region, the model should explicitly consider insect disturbance. The birch forest is cyclically disturbed by autumn larvae and winter moths (Heliasz *et al.*, 2011), which can fundamentally shift the carbon uptake ability of the birch forest. For the catchment peatland, the wet *Eriophorum* peatland showed stronger annual uptake than the relatively drier *Sphagnum* peatland, which is consistent with the observed relative differences between these two types of peatland (Christensen *et al.*, 2012, Olefeldt *et al.*, 2012). For the tundra heath, a relatively smaller uptake was modelled, (however, with a large variability), which is consistent with field observations (Fox *et al.*, 2008).

A future climate scenario with a 2°C temperature increase and doubled atmospheric CO₂ concentration since 1960 has been tested for the catchment and the results indicated that the whole catchment will become a much stronger carbon sink by 2080, mainly due to a stronger carbon uptake by, and wider distribution of, birch forest in a near future. To date, however, there is no clear evidence of significant CO₂ fertilization effects in this region (Oechel *et al.*, 1994, Gwynn-Jones *et al.*, 1997, Olsrud *et al.*, 2010), mainly due to the complex interactions between nutrient supplies, UV-B exposure, temperature and growing season length and forest longevity. Therefore, in this paper we further tested the model's sensitivity to the atmospheric CO₂ concentration and found that the CO₂ trajectory dramatically impacts the carbon uptake in the birch forest and tundra heath. This can totally shift the balance of the catchment global warming potential (GWP) resulting from carbon uptake in the birch forest and tundra heath. This CH₄ emissions.

Consideration of vegetation dynamics and the application of the model at a high spatial resolution showed the detailed vegetation succession (e.g. birch forest encroachment on tundra heath) as well as the carbon flux dependencies on the responses of trees and shrubs to climate drivers at a fine scale. This study also highlighted the urgent need to quantify and understand the CO_2 fertilization effects on the various vegetation micro-types, particularly for tall vegetation types in this region (Olsrud *et al.*, 2010). This application also reveals the complexity of carbon cycling in subarctic ecosystems (Callaghan *et al.*, 2013), and points out some key remaining model developments needed to improve our understanding of complex subarctic ecosystems such as Stordalen's. The necessary developments include nutrient limitation, herbivory and other disturbances, peatland expansion, and aquatic system flux dynamics. With the abundance of observation data in the Stordalen catchment, the improved understanding and the quantified carbon functioning from different vegetation communities can be applied to large areas where large C stocks exist but long term measurements are lacking.

5.4. From water flow to hydrological mass transport: the importance of modelling DOC dynamics (Paper IV)

The estimated dissolved organic carbon (DOC) export in Paper III was based on the modelled runoff and the observed DOC concentration and there is no processbased description in the model. To better quantify DOC losses from terrestrial ecosystems, including its climate and parameter sensitivity, and to understand the dynamic contributions to the whole carbon budget (Paper III), it is necessary to mechanically describe the DOC-relevant processes in soils and to link these processes to the vegetation dynamics and the turnover of the long-term soil carbon pool. In Paper IV, we proposed a set of DOC-related processes in LPJ-GUESS WHyMe and LPJG-WHyMe-TFM (Fig. 5), including DOC production, mineralization, diffusion, sorption-desorption and export/leaching based on previous work by Yurova et al. (2008) and Omstedt et al. (2012). The proposed processes represent a generalized approach to the dynamic modelling DOC fluxes and have a straightforward link to other ecosystem processes as well as soil properties (Neff & Asner, 2001). Our sensitivity analysis indicated that the DOC production from the SOC and DOC/SPSOC mineralization to CO₂ are the two dominant processes controlling soil water DOC concentration, which is line with several lab experiments (Hagedorn et al., 2004, Kalbitz & Kaiser, 2008). However, there are also different opinions about the dominant processes related to soil DOC concentrations, mainly due to the different time scales considered in various studies. Some processes, like fresh litter decomposition, can happen on the order of hours or faster, which is less than the daily resolution used in our model (Kalbitz et al., 2000, Fröberg et al., 2007).

The catchment-level DOC simulation including DOC routing within the catchment has revealed the high spatial heterogeneity of DOC transport through different land cover types. The estimated DOC export at six points, compared with the observed DOC export data showed the model's ability in capturing DOC flux seasonality. Among the existing land cover types in the catchment, the *Eriophorum* peatland shows the highest DOC export (Olefeldt & Roulet, 2014), followed by the riparian zone and the birch forest. The *Sphagnum* moss areas show the lowest DOC fluxes due to the limited hydrological transport and the lowest litter inputs (Limpens *et al.*, 2008). The important roles of the riparian zone and *Eriophorum* peatland in regulating catchment DOC export are well established (Bishop *et al.*, 2004, Olefeldt & Roulet, 2014). However, at the current model development stage, the riparian zone's specific hydrological processes and vegetation are not yet fully described, which may bring additional uncertainty in terms of the functioning of riparian zone (Laudon *et al.*, 2011).

This is the first model study to integrate dynamically DOC fluxes into a dynamic vegetation model and to consider spatially varying DOC exports from diverse land cover types at the catchment scale. Even though the soil structure and biogeochemical processes are not compatible with other soil-specialized DOC models (Parton *et al.*, 1994, Sollins *et al.*, 1996), the current implementation indicated that DOC-related processes in the framework of LPJ-GUESS WHyMe are at an appropriate level of complexity to represent the main mechanisms of DOC dynamics in soils.

6. Conclusions

In this thesis, a series of model implementations, improvements and experiments have been conducted, including the development of topography-based water flow routing within a dynamic ecosystem model, the evaluation of the influences of lateral flow on eco-hydrological processes and the formulation of a framework explicitly considering DOC dynamics within the catchment. These implementations give us new and important insights into the links between topography-controlled spatial hydrological conditions and ecosystem biogeochemical dynamics.

The following conclusions can be drawn from this thesis:

- Topographical indices can be straightforwardly implemented into dynamic ecosystem models to effectively capture both spatial and temporal variations in hydrological processes.
- The choice of different flow routing algorithms to describe catchment flow patterns does matter for the modelled accuracy of hydrological fluxes, but also for vegetation and carbon dynamics.
- Hydrological conditions are one of the key factors influencing peatland carbon fluxes, especially in determining the amount of carbon released as CH₄. There is therefore an urgent need to accurately represent both vertical and horizontal water fluxes in peatlands.
- According to our model simulations, the role of the subarctic regions as a future sink or source of carbon is largely regulated by the long-term CO₂ fertilization effects on tall vegetation, like shrubs and birch forest. Thus, long-term observations and/or Free Air CO₂ Enrichment (FACE) manipulations are needed in these regions.
- The *Eriophorum* peatland was identified as the hotspot of DOC export in the Stordalen catchment. In a warming future with a large degradation of permafrost in this region, the DOC fluxes, particularly from the *Eriophorum* peatland, could be dramatically increased if the peatland becomes wetter.

• The process-based DOC modelling together with the distributed hydrology modelling within the framework of LPJ-GUESS WHyMe gives us the opportunity to integrate vertical (atmosphere-vegetation-soil) and horizontal (DOC routing) terrestrial carbon flows in the model, which could significantly contribute to the estimates of terrestrial ecosystem fluxes. The process-based soil DOC export and the lateral transport can potentially be linked to river and lake carbon cycling models in order to comprehensively integrate both terrestrial and aquatic carbon dynamics in a changing climate.

7. Future developments and applications

In this thesis we have shown the advantages of integrating the TFM algorithm in capturing both hydrological and ecological fluxes in the Stordalen catchment. The influences of different flow routing algorithms on ecosystem processes may differ from region to region due to climatic conditions, vegetation distribution and topographical characteristics. Thus, the benefits of the TFM algorithm in partitioning flow should be tested in a larger area. For global hydrological modelling groups, an essential required input is a global drainage map to determine flow transport directions. However, the widely used global drainage map (Döll & Lehner, 2002) was developed on the basis of a SF algorithm, which could restrict the accuracy of the estimated water flow. With the availability of global DEM data and vectorised, high resolution river maps, it is worthwhile to reproduce a global drainage map based on the TFM algorithm and test it with different global hydrological models.

To implement the cell-to-cell based flow distribution developed in this thesis in a larger catchment, an explicit consideration of flow velocity is required. The flow velocity in the current implementation in the Stordalen catchment is applied implicitly, assuming surface and subsurface water can flow out of the catchment within one time step. However, the traveling distance of lateral water (surface and subsurface) from a specific cell is dynamically determined by the soil saturation deficits of downslope grid cells and the amount of runoff from the current cell on a daily basis. With coarser resolution and a larger catchment, this assumption may not apply and the influence of flow velocity becomes more significant in determining water traveling distance within each time step. The explicit consideration of flow velocity in a larger area needs to reflect the influences of vegetation resistance, topographical characteristics as well as soil properties. However, it may be difficult to aquire and quantify such spatial information as well as validate its impacts on flow velocity in larger regions (Gong et al., 2009). Moreover, for some global hydrological models, the flow generation is implemented as a linear relationship with water storage and the flow velocity is simplified as a constant (e.g. 1 m/s) for different paths of runoff (Oki & Sud, 1998, Döll et al., 2003). For these models, the traveling distance of lateral water per time

step is fixed (e.g. 1 m/s equal to 86.4 km/day). If we were to apply the same constant velocity in our approach, then the maximum travelling distance of lateral runoff will be constrainted by this value. However, within the threshold value the lateral water partitioning and travel distance will still be a function of the soil saturation deficits of downslope grid cells and the amount of runoff. Therefore, our approach would be implementable for larger catchments. In addition, our current flow routing approach does not consider deep groudwater flow (baseflow) which could be developed in the future application.

In the current version of LPJ-GUESS, the water flow within the soil is still largely based on a "two-layer bucket" structure, which could be further enhanced by implementing a finer vertical discretisation to model soil water flow (Cox *et al.*, 1999, Wolf *et al.*, 2008a). By implementing finer soil layering and water flow, it may be possible to distinguish the contributions of DOC export from different soil layers (Neff & Asner, 2001).

Since the hydrological scheme is developed to fit into the framework of the dynamic vegetation model, no specific consideration of in-lake processes and potential influences from lakes on flow paths was taken. A future coupling of hydrological modelling in lakes could be considered to improve catchment water fluxes. Finally, we could also couple our terrestrial vegetation model with aquatic biogeochemical models to dynamically link terrestrial organic carbon inputs with aquatic ecosystem processes, for instance considering DOC decomposition in aquatic systems.

Finally, the current carbon budget estimations and predictions at the catchment level can be further investigated with potential N limitations on plants (Smith *et al.*, 2014). The latest version of LPJ-GUESS has coupled N cycling and C-N interactions in the model, which could be integrated into the customized Arctic version of the model implemented in this thesis.

Acknowledgements

I would like to firstly express my deepest appreciation to my three supervisors that have provided me excellent guidance throughout this thesis. First I thank my brilliant main supervisor, Petter Pilesjö, who has always given me the fastest response and supervision. He has tackled all problems with a positive and creative attitude that has been transferred to me and others. Moreover, many thanks to my supervisor Paul Miller. His patience and expertise in LPJ-GUESS modeling and related subjects have been invaluable for my learning process. I also admire his ability to always have the time for giving constructive feedbacks on my work and for encouraging me throughout the process. I also want to thank my supervisor Andreas Persson for all his kind support and help, as well as fruitful discussions.

Many big thanks to all my co-authors for sharing their knowledge, expertise and valuable data. I have enjoyed very much doing research together with all of you. Especially, thank you Terry V Callaghan, David Olefeldt, Alla Yurova, Stefan Olin, Guy Schurgers, Anneli Poska and Abdulghani Hasan for your valuable feedbacks, ideas, encouragements and constructive criticism. You have brought expertise on both the detailed level and on a wider perspective which has been invaluable for me. I also want to thank the LPJ group for all the supports; especially thanks to Joe Siltberg, Annett Wolf and Ben Smith. Furthermore, I would like to thank Qingyun Du, my supervisor and professor in Wuhan University, for always supporting my decisions and providing me valuable suggestions. Big thanks to my greatest mentor, Pål Axel Olsson for all the interesting discussions and good advices. Finally, except for being a great friend, Cecilia Olsson have scrutinized my kappa and given helpful comments for which I am very grateful for.

Moreover, thanks to all my colleagues at the Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science for making the office environment pleasant. In particularly I want to thank Lars Harrie and Ulrik Mårtensson for welcoming me to Lund when I first arrived here. I also want to thank for the technical support from Rafael Przybyszewski and Ricardo Guillén. I want to thank all the PhD students at the department for the sharing of experiences and for all the nice activities that have made my years here so much more fun. Thanks also to my excellent office-mate Per Bodin. I have cherished very much sharing room with you and thanks for all your great advices. I also feel grateful to my colleagues at the GIS Centre for making my first year extra enjoyable and for the many social events: Ara, Alex, Ali, David T, Ehsan, Hanna, Karin, Lars E, Lina, Micael, Mitch, Mojgan, Irene and Roger.

Moreover, I want to thank those colleagues that have become my good friends and for all the time we so far have spent together. I hope we will have many good times together in the future as well. Special thanks go also to my lovely Chinese colleagues and friends for all your support and for making me feel closer to home.

Outside work, I extend gratitude to my wonderful family for all their support: my mother, my father, my aunt and lovely sister and brother. To end with, I devote this last sentence to my sunshine Finn for always being there for me in both hard times and good times; for making me happy and making my life colorful.

References

- Abbott MB, Bathurst JC, Cunge JA, O'connell PE, Rasmussen J (1986) An introduction to the European Hydrological System Systeme Hydrologique Europeen, "SHE", 2: Structure of a physically-based, distributed modelling system. *Journal of Hydrology*, **87**, 61-77.
- Ahlström A, Miller PA, Smith B (2012) Too early to infer a global NPP decline since 2000. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **39**, L15403.
- Åkerman HJ, Johansson M (2008) Thawing permafrost and thicker active layers in subarctic Sweden. *Permafrost and Periglacial Processes*, **19**, 279-292.
- Amap (2012) Arctic Climate Issues 2011: Changes in Arctic Snow, Water, Ice and Permafrost. In: SWIPA 2011 Overview Report. Oslo.
- Arnold JG, Fohrer N (2005) SWAT2000: current capabilities and research opportunities in applied watershed modelling. *Hydrological Processes*, **19**, 563-572.
- Arora VK, Boer GJ (1999) A variable velocity flow routing algorithm for GCMs. *Journal* of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, **104**, 30965-30979.
- Asbjornsen H, Goldsmith GR, Alvarado-Barrientos MS *et al.* (2011) Ecohydrological advances and applications in plant–water relations research: a review. *Journal of Plant Ecology*, **4**, 3-22.
- Aselmann I, Crutzen PJ (1989) Global distribution of natural freshwater wetlands and rice paddies, their net primary productivity, seasonality and possible methane emissions. *Journal of Atmospheric Chemistry*, **8**, 307-358.
- Avis CA, Weaver AJ, Meissner KJ (2011) Reduction in areal extent of high-latitude wetlands in response to permafrost thaw. *Nature Geosci*, **4**, 444-448.
- Bäckstrand K, Crill PM, Jackowicz-Korczyński M, Mastepanov M, Christensen TR, Bastviken D (2010) Annual carbon gas budget for a subarctic peatland, Northern Sweden. *Biogeosciences*, 7, 95-108.
- Battin TJ, Luyssaert S, Kaplan LA, Aufdenkampe AK, Richter A, Tranvik LJ (2009) The boundless carbon cycle. *Nature Geosci*, **2**, 598-600.
- Beven K, Freer J (2001) A dynamic topmodel. Hydrological Processes, 15, 1993-2011.
- Beven KJ, Kirkby MJ (1979) A physically based, variable contributing area model of basin hydrology / Un modèle à base physique de zone d'appel variable de l'hydrologie du bassin versant. *Hydrological Sciences Bulletin*, **24**, 43-69.
- Bishop K, Seibert J, Köhler S, Laudon H (2004) Resolving the Double Paradox of rapidly mobilized old water with highly variable responses in runoff chemistry. *Hydrological Processes*, 18, 185-189.
- Burn DH, Cunderlik JM, Pietroniro A (2004) Hydrological trends and variability in the Liard River basin / Tendances hydrologiques et variabilité dans le basin de la rivière Liard. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, **49**, 53-67.

- Callaghan TV, Jonasson C, Thierfelder T *et al.* (2013) Ecosystem change and stability over multiple decades in the Swedish subarctic: complex processes and multiple drivers. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 368.
- Chen L, Wang L, Ma Y, Liu P (2014) Overview of Ecohydrological Models and Systems at the Watershed Scale. *Systems Journal, IEEE*, **PP**, 1-9.
- Christensen T, Jackowicz-Korczyński M, Aurela M, Crill P, Heliasz M, Mastepanov M, Friborg T (2012) Monitoring the Multi-Year Carbon Balance of a Subarctic Palsa Mire with Micrometeorological Techniques. *AMBIO*, **41**, 207-217.
- Christensen TR, Johansson T, Akerman HJ *et al.* (2004) Thawing sub-arctic permafrost; effects on vegetation and methane emissions. *Geophysical Research Letters*, **31**, L04501.
- Clapp RB, Hornberger GM (1978) Empirical equations for some soil hydraulic properties. *Water Resources Research*, **14**, 601-604.
- Costa-Cabral MC, Burges SJ (1994) Digital Elevation Model Networks (DEMON): A model of flow over hillslopes for computation of contributing and dispersal areas. *Water Resources Research*, **30**, 1681-1692.
- Cox PM, Betts RA, Bunton CB, Essery RLH, Rowntree PR, Smith J (1999) The impact of new land surface physics on the GCM simulation of climate and climate sensitivity. *Climate Dynamics*, **15**, 183-203.
- Crank J, Nicolson P (1996) A practical method for numerical evaluation of solutions of partial differential equations of the heat-conduction type. *Advances in Computational Mathematics*, **6**, 207-226.
- Currie WS, Aber JD (1997) Modeling leaching as a decomposition process in humid montane forests. *Ecology*, **78**, 1844-1860.
- D'odorico P, Laio F, Porporato A, Ridolfi L, Rinaldo A, Rodriguez-Iturbe I (2010) Ecohydrology of Terrestrial Ecosystems. *BioScience*, **60**, 898-907.
- Döll P, Fiedler K (2008) Global-scale modeling of groundwater recharge. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.*, **12**, 863-885.
- Döll P, Kaspar F, Lehner B (2003) A global hydrological model for deriving water availability indicators: model tuning and validation. *Journal of Hydrology*, 270, 105-134.
- Döll P, Lehner B (2002) Validation of a new global 30-min drainage direction map. *Journal of Hydrology*, **258**, 214-231.
- Euskirchen ES, Mcguire AD, Chapin FS (2007) Energy feedbacks of northern highlatitude ecosystems to the climate system due to reduced snow cover during 20th century warming. *Global Change Biology*, **13**, 2425-2438.
- Fairfield J, Leymarie P (1991) Drainage networks from grid digital elevation models. *Water Resources Research*, **27**, 709-717.
- Famiglietti JS, Wood EF, Sivapalan M, Thongs DJ (1992) A catchment scale water balance model for FIFE. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 97, 18997-19007.
- Farquhar GD, Von Caemmerer S, Berry JA (1980) A biochemical model of photosynthetic CO2 assimilation in leaves of C3 species. *Planta*, **149**, 78-90.

- Fox AM, Huntley B, Lloyd CR, Williams M, Baxter R (2008) Net ecosystem exchange over heterogeneous Arctic tundra: Scaling between chamber and eddy covariance measurements. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, **22**, GB2027.
- Freeman C, Fenner N, Ostle NJ *et al.* (2004) Export of dissolved organic carbon from peatlands under elevated carbon dioxide levels. *Nature*, **430**, 195-198.
- Freeze RA, Cherry JA (1979) Groundwater, Englewood Cliffs: Prentice Hall, cop. .
- Frey KE, Smith LC (2005) Amplified carbon release from vast West Siberian peatlands by 2100. *Geophysical Research Letters*, **32**, L09401.
- Fröberg M, Jardine PM, Hanson PJ, Swanston CW, Todd DE, Tarver JR, Garten CT (2007) Low Dissolved Organic Carbon Input from Fresh Litter to Deep Mineral Soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J., 71, 347-354.
- Gerten D, Schaphoff S, Haberlandt U, Lucht W, Sitch S (2004) Terrestrial vegetation and water balance--hydrological evaluation of a dynamic global vegetation model. *Journal of Hydrology*, **286**, 249-270.
- Gong L, Widén-Nilsson E, Halldin S, Xu CY (2009) Large-scale runoff routing with an aggregated network-response function. *Journal of Hydrology*, **368**, 237-250.
- Gorham E (1991) Northern Peatlands: Role in the Carbon Cycle and Probable Responses to Climatic Warming. *Ecological Applications*, **1**, 182-195.
- Grabs T, Bishop K, Laudon H, Lyon SW, Seibert J (2012) Riparian zone hydrology and soil water total organic carbon (TOC): implications for spatial variability and upscaling of lateral riparian TOC exports. *Biogeosciences*, **9**, 3901-3916.
- Granberg G, Grip H, Lofvenius MO, Sundh I, Svensson BH, Nilsson M (1999) A simple model for simulation of water content, soil frost, and soil temperatures in boreal mixed mires. *Water Resources Research*, **35**, 3771-3782.
- Gwynn-Jones D, Lee JA, Callaghan TV (1997) Effects of enhanced UV-B radiation and elevated carbon dioxide concentrations on a sub-arctic forest heath ecosystem. *Plant Ecology*, **128**, 243-249.
- Hagedorn F, Saurer M, Blaser P (2004) A 13C tracer study to identify the origin of dissolved organic carbon in forested mineral soils. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 55, 91-100.
- Hasan A, Pilesjö P, Persson A (2012) Drainage Area Estimation in Practice how to tackle artifacts in real world data. In: *GIS Ostrava 2012-Surface models for geosciences*. Ostrava, Czech Republic.
- Haxeltine A, Prentice IC (1996) BIOME3: An equilibrium terrestrial biosphere model based on ecophysiological constraints, resource availability, and competition among plant functional types. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, **10**, 693-709.
- Heliasz M (2012) Spatial and temporal dynamics of subarctic birch forest carbon exchange. Doctoral Dissertation, Lund University Sweden, 132 pp.
- Heliasz M, Johansson T, Lindroth A *et al.* (2011) Quantification of C uptake in subarctic birch forest after setback by an extreme insect outbreak. *Geophysical Research Letters*, **38**, L01704.
- Hickler T, Smith B, Sykes MT, Davis MB, Sugita S, Walker K (2004) Using a generalized vegetation model to simulate vegetation dynamics in northeastern USA. *Ecology*, 85, 519-530.

- Hickler T, Vohland K, Feehan J *et al.* (2012) Projecting the future distribution of European potential natural vegetation zones with a generalized, tree species-based dynamic vegetation model. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, **21**, 50-63.
- Hwang T, Band LE, Vose JM, Tague C (2012) Ecosystem processes at the watershed scale: Hydrologic vegetation gradient as an indicator for lateral hydrologic connectivity of headwater catchments. *Water Resources Research*, 48, W06514.
- Ipcc (2013) Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. In: Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (eds Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner G-K, Tignor M, Allen SK, Boschung J, Nauels A, Xia Y, Bex V, Midgley PM), NY, USA.
- Jackowicz-Korczyński M, Christensen TR, Bäckstrand K, Crill P, Friborg T, Mastepanov M, Ström L (2010) Annual cycle of methane emission from a subarctic peatland. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, **115**, G02009.
- Jantze EJ, Lyon SW, Destouni G (2013) Subsurface release and transport of dissolved carbon in a discontinuous permafrost region. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.*, **17**, 3827-3839.
- Jobbágy EG, Jackson RB (2000) The vertical distribution of soil organic carbon and its relation to climate and vegetation. *Ecological Applications*, **10**, 423-436.
- Kalbitz K, Kaiser K (2008) Contribution of dissolved organic matter to carbon storage in forest mineral soils. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, **171**, 52-60.
- Kalbitz K, Solinger S, Park JH, Michalzik B, Matzner E (2000) Controls on the dynamics dissolved organic matter in soils: A review. *Soil Science*, **165**, 277-304.
- Kattsov VM, Walsh JE, Chapman WL, Govorkova VA, Pavlova TV, Zhang X (2007) Simulation and Projection of Arctic Freshwater Budget Components by the IPCC AR4 Global Climate Models. *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, 8, 571-589.
- Koca D, Smith B, Sykes M (2006) Modelling Regional Climate Change Effects On Potential Natural Ecosystems in Sweden. *Climatic Change*, **78**, 381-406.
- Kopecký M, Čížková Š (2010) Using topographic wetness index in vegetation ecology: does the algorithm matter? *Applied Vegetation Science*, **13**, 450-459.
- Koven CD, Ringeval B, Friedlingstein P et al. (2011) Permafrost carbon-climate feedbacks accelerate global warming. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108, 14769-14774.
- Krysanova V, Arnold JG (2008) Advances in ecohydrological modelling with SWAT—a review. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, **53**, 939-947.
- Laudon H, Berggren M, Ågren A *et al.* (2011) Patterns and Dynamics of Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC) in Boreal Streams: The Role of Processes, Connectivity, and Scaling. *Ecosystems*, 14, 880-893.
- Lawrence D, Slater A (2008) Incorporating organic soil into a global climate model. *Climate Dynamics*, **30**, 145-160.
- Lilienfein J, Qualls RG, Uselman SM, Bridgham SD (2004) Adsorption of Dissolved Organic Carbon and Nitrogen in Soils of a Weathering Chronosequence. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, **68**, 292-305.
- Limpens J, Berendse F, Blodau C *et al.* (2008) Peatlands and the carbon cycle: from local processes to global implications a synthesis. *Biogeosciences*, **5**, 1475-1491.

Lukeno JO, Billings WD (1985) The influence of microtopographic heterogeneity on carbon dioxide efflux from a subarctic bog. *Ecography*, **8**, 306-312.

- Lundin EJ, Giesler R, Persson A, Thompson MS, Karlsson J (2013) Integrating carbon emissions from lakes and streams in a subarctic catchment. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, **118**, 1200-1207.
- Malmer N, Johansson T, Olsrud M, Christensen TR (2005) Vegetation, climatic changes and net carbon sequestration in a North-Scandinavian subarctic mire over 30 years. *Global Change Biology*, **11**, 1895-1909.
- Margareta J, Terry VC, Julia B, Jonas HÅ, Marcin J-K, Torben RC (2013) Rapid responses of permafrost and vegetation to experimentally increased snow cover in sub-arctic Sweden. *Environmental Research Letters*, **8**, 035025.
- Mcguire AD, Christensen TR, Hayes D *et al.* (2012) An assessment of the carbon balance of arctic tundra: comparisons among observations, process models, and atmospheric inversions. *Biogeosciences Discuss.*, **9**, 4543-4594.
- Mcguire AD, Sitch S, Clein JS *et al.* (2001) Carbon balance of the terrestrial biosphere in the Twentieth Century: Analyses of CO2, climate and land use effects with four process-based ecosystem models. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, **15**, 183-206.
- Mcguire AD, Wirth C, Apps M *et al.* (2002) Environmental variation, vegetation distribution, carbon dynamics and water/energy exchange at high latitudes. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, **13**, 301-314.
- Melillo JM, Mcguire AD, Kicklighter DW, Moore B, Vorosmarty CJ, Schloss AL (1993) Global climate change and terrestrial net primary production. *Nature*, **363**, 234-240.
- Michalzik B, Tipping E, Mulder J *et al.* (2003) Modelling the production and transport of dissolved organic carbon in forest soils. *Biogeochemistry*, **66**, 241-264.
- Miller PA, Smith B (2012) Modelling Tundra Vegetation Response to Recent Arctic Warming. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment*, **41**, 281-291.
- Mitchell TD, Carter TR, Jones PD, Hulme M, New M (2004) A comprehensive set of high-resolution grids of monthly climate for Europe and the globe: the observed record (1901-2000) and 16 scenarios (2001-2100). In: *Tyndall Centre Working Papers 55*. Tyndall Centre, UEA, Norwich, UK.
- Monteith DT, Stoddard JL, Evans CD *et al.* (2007) Dissolved organic carbon trends resulting from changes in atmospheric deposition chemistry. *Nature*, **450**, 537-540.
- Moore ID, Grayson RB, Ladson AR (1991) Digital terrain modelling: A review of hydrological, geomorphological, and biological applications. *Hydrological Processes*, **5**, 3-30.
- Morales P, Hickler T, Rowell DP, Smith B, Sykes MT (2007) Changes in European ecosystem productivity and carbon balance driven by regional climate model output. *Global Change Biology*, **13**, 108-122.
- Naden PS, Blyth EM, Broadhurst P, Watts CD, Wright IR (2000) Modelling the spatial variation in soil moisture at the landscape scale: An application to five areas of ecological interest in the UK. *Hydrological Processes*, **14**, 785-809.
- Neff JC, Asner GP (2001) Dissolved Organic Carbon in Terrestrial Ecosystems: Synthesis and a Model. *Ecosystems*, **4**, 29-48.

- O'callaghan JF, Mark DM (1984) The extraction of drainage networks from digital elevation data. *Computer Vision, Graphics, & amp; Image Processing,* **28**, 323-344.
- Oechel WC, Cowles S, Grulke N *et al.* (1994) Transient nature of CO2 fertilization in Arctic tundra. *Nature*, **371**, 500-503.
- Oki T, Sud YC (1998) Design of Total Runoff Integrating Pathways (TRIP)—A Global River Channel Network. *Earth Interactions*, **2**, 1-37.
- Olefeldt D, Roulet N, Giesler R, Persson A (2013) Total waterborne carbon export and DOC composition from ten nested subarctic peatland catchments—importance of peatland cover, groundwater influence, and inter-annual variability of precipitation patterns. *Hydrological Processes*, **27**, 2280-2294.
- Olefeldt D, Roulet NT (2012) Effects of permafrost and hydrology on the composition and transport of dissolved organic carbon in a subarctic peatland complex. *Journal of Geophysical Research G: Biogeosciences*, **117**.
- Olefeldt D, Roulet NT (2014) Permafrost conditions in peatlands regulate magnitude, timing, and chemical composition of catchment dissolved organic carbon export. *Global Change Biology*, **20**, 3122-3136.
- Olefeldt D, Roulet NT, Bergeron O, Crill P, Bäckstrand K, Christensen TR (2012) Net carbon accumulation of a high-latitude permafrost palsa mire similar to permafrost-free peatlands. *Geophysical Research Letters*, **39**, L03501.
- Olsrud M, Carlsson BÅ, Svensson BM, Michelsen A, Melillo JM (2010) Responses of fungal root colonization, plant cover and leaf nutrients to long-term exposure to elevated atmospheric CO2 and warming in a subarctic birch forest understory. *Global Change Biology*, **16**, 1820-1829.
- Omstedt A, Edman M, Claremar B *et al.* (2012) Future changes in the Baltic Sea acid-base (pH) and oxygen balances. *Tellus B*, **64**.
- Orlandini S, Moretti G, Franchini M, Aldighieri B, Testa B (2003) Path-based methods for the determination of nondispersive drainage directions in grid-based digital elevation models. *Water Resources Research*, **39**, 1144.
- Parton WJ, Ojima DS, Cole CV, Schimel DS (1994) A General Model for Soil Organic Matter Dynamics: Sensitivity to Litter Chemistry, Texture and Management. In: *Quantitative Modeling of Soil Forming Processes*. (eds Bryant RB, Arnold RW) pp 147-167. Soil Science Society of America.
- Persson A, Hasan A, Tang J, Pilesjö P (2012) Modelling Flow Routing in Permafrost Landscapes with TWI: An Evaluation against Site-Specific Wetness Measurements. *Transactions in GIS*, **16**, 701-713.
- Petrescu AMR, Van Huissteden J, Jackowicz-Korczynski M *et al.* (2008) Modelling CH4 emissions from arctic wetlands: effects of hydrological parameterization. *Biogeosciences*, **5**, 111-121.
- Pilesjö P, Hasan A (2014) A Triangular Form-based Multiple Flow Algorithm to Estimate Overland Flow Distribution and Accumulation on a Digital Elevation Model. *Transactions in GIS*, **18**, 108-124.
- Prentice IC, Cramer W, Harrison SP, Leemans R, Monserud RA, Solomon AM (1992) Special paper: a global biome model based on plant physiology and dominance, soil properties and climate. *Journal of biogeography*, 117-134.

- Prentice IC, Sykes MT, Cramer W (1993) A simulation model for the transient effects of climate change on forest landscapes. *Ecological Modelling*, **65**, 51-70.
- Rost S, Gerten D, Bondeau A, Lucht W, Rohwer J, Schaphoff S (2008) Agricultural green and blue water consumption and its influence on the global water system. *Water Resources Research*, 44, W09405.
- Roulet NT, Lafleur PM, Richard PJH, Moore TR, Humphreys ER, Bubier J (2007) Contemporary carbon balance and late Holocene carbon accumulation in a northern peatland. *Global Change Biology*, **13**, 397-411.
- Rundqvist S, Hedenås H, Sandström A, Emanuelsson U, Eriksson H, Jonasson C, Callaghan T (2011) Tree and Shrub Expansion Over the Past 34 Years at the Tree-Line Near Abisko, Sweden. *AMBIO*, **40**, 683-692.
- Saltelli A, Ratto M, Andres T et al. (2008) Global Sensitivity Analysis: The primer, Chichester, Wiley-Blackwell.
- Schuur EaG, Vogel JG, Crummer KG, Lee H, Sickman JO, Osterkamp TE (2009) The effect of permafrost thaw on old carbon release and net carbon exchange from tundra. *Nature*, **459**, 556-559.
- Seibert J, Grabs T, Köhler S, Laudon H, Winterdahl M, Bishop K (2009) Linking soil- and stream-water chemistry based on a Riparian Flow-Concentration Integration Model. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.*, 13, 2287-2297.
- Seibert J, Mcglynn BL (2007) A new triangular multiple flow direction algorithm for computing upslope areas from gridded digital elevation models. *Water Resources Research*, **43**.
- Sharp ED, Sullivan PF, Steltzer H, Csank AZ, Welker JM (2013) Complex carbon cycle responses to multi-level warming and supplemental summer rain in the high Arctic. *Global Change Biology*, **19**, 1780-1792.
- Shindell DT, Miller RL, Schmidt GA, Pandolfo L (1999) Simulation of recent northern winter climate trends by greenhouse-gas forcing. *Nature*, **399**, 452-455.
- Shiyatov SG, Terent'ev MM, Fomin VV, Zimmermann NE (2007) Altitudinal and horizontal shifts of the upper boundaries of open and closed forests in the Polar Urals in the 20th century. *Russian Journal of Ecology*, **38**, 223-227.
- Sitch S, Smith B, Prentice IC *et al.* (2003) Evaluation of ecosystem dynamics, plant geography and terrestrial carbon cycling in the LPJ dynamic global vegetation model. *Global Change Biology*, **9**, 161-185.
- Smith B, Prentice IC, Sykes MT (2001) Representation of vegetation dynamics in the modelling of terrestrial ecosystems: comparing two contrasting approaches within European climate space. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, **10**, 621-637.
- Smith B, Wårlind D, Arneth A, Hickler T, Leadley P, Siltberg J, Zaehle S (2014) Implications of incorporating N cycling and N limitations on primary production in an individual-based dynamic vegetation model. *Biogeosciences*, 11, 2027-2054.
- Snyder PK (2013) Arctic greening: Concerns over Arctic warming grow. *Nature Clim. Change*, **3**, 539-540.
- Sollins P, Homann P, Caldwell BA (1996) Stabilization and destabilization of soil organic matter: mechanisms and controls. *Geoderma*, **74**, 65-105.

- Solomon S, Plattner G-K, Knutti R, Friedlingstein P (2009) Irreversible climate change due to carbon dioxide emissions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **106**, 1704-1709.
- Sponseller RA, Fisher SG (2008) The influence of drainage networks on patterns of soil respiration in a desert catchment. *Ecology*, **89**, 1089-1100.
- St. Jacques J-M, Sauchyn DJ (2009) Increasing winter baseflow and mean annual streamflow from possible permafrost thawing in the Northwest Territories, Canada. *Geophysical Research Letters*, **36**, L01401.
- Tague CL, Band LE (2001) Evaluating explicit and implicit routing for watershed hydroecological models of forest hydrology at the small catchment scale. *Hydrological Processes*, **15**, 1415-1439.
- Tague CL, Band LE (2004) RHESSys: Regional Hydro-Ecologic Simulation System—An Object-Oriented Approach to Spatially Distributed Modeling of Carbon, Water, and Nutrient Cycling. *Earth Interactions*, **8**, 1-42.
- Tarnocai C, Canadell JG, Schuur EaG, Kuhry P, Mazhitova G, Zimov S (2009) Soil organic carbon pools in the northern circumpolar permafrost region. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, **23**, GB2023.
- Tranvik LJ, Downing JA, Cotner JB *et al.* (2009) Lakes and reservoirs as regulators of carbon cycling and climate. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **54**, 2298-2314.
- Wania R (2007) Modelling Northern Peatland Surface Processes, Vegetation Dynamics and Methane Emissions. PhD University of Bristol
- Wania R, Ross I, Prentice IC (2009a) Integrating peatlands and permafrost into a dynamic global vegetation model; 1, Evaluation and sensitivity of physical land surface processes. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 23.
- Wania R, Ross I, Prentice IC (2009b) Integrating peatlands and permafrost into a dynamic global vegetation model; 2, Evaluation and sensitivity of vegetation and carbon cycle processes. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 23.
- Wania R, Ross I, Prentice IC (2010) Implementation and evaluation of a new methane model within a dynamic global vegetation model: LPJ-WHyMe v1.3. Geosci. Model Dev. Discuss., 3, 1-59.
- Watts DJ, Kimball SJ, Bartsch A, Mcdonald CK (2014) Surface water inundation in the boreal-Arctic: potential impacts on regional methane emissions. *Environmental Research Letters*, 9, 075001.
- Wigmosta MS, Vail LW, Lettenmaier DP (1994) A distributed hydrology-vegetation model for complex terrain. *Water Resources Research*, **30**, 1665-1679.
- Wilson JP, Gallant JC, Snyder RD (2000) Terrain Analysis: Principles and Applications. In: Effect of data source, grid resolution, and flow-routing method on computed topographic attributes. New York, Wiley.
- Wilson JP, Lam CS, Deng Y (2007) Comparison of the performance of flow-routing algorithms used in GIS-based hydrologic analysis. *Hydrological Processes*, **21**, 1026-1044.
- Wolf A (2011) Estimating the potential impact of vegetation on the water cycle requires accurate soil water parameter estimation. *Ecological Modelling*, **222**, 2595-2605.

- Wolf A, Blyth E, Harding R, Jacob D, Keup-Thiel E, Goettel H, Callaghan T (2008a) Sensitivity of an ecosystem model to hydrology and temperature. *Climatic Change*, 87, 75-89.
- Wolf A, Callaghan TV, Larson K (2008b) Future changes in vegetation and ecosystem function of the Barents Region. *Climatic Change*, **87**, 51-73.
- Woo M-K (2012) Permafrost hydrology, Berlin, Springer Heidelberg.
- Wrona FJ, Prowse TD, Reist JD, Hobbie JE, Lévesque LMJ, Vincent WF (2006) Climate Change Effects on Aquatic Biota, Ecosystem Structure and Function. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 35, 359-369.
- Wu H, Peng C, Moore TR *et al.* (2013) Modeling dissolved organic carbon in temperate forest soils: TRIPLEX-DOC model development and validation. *Geosci. Model Dev. Discuss.*, 6, 3473-3508.
- Xu L, Myneni RB, Chapin Iii FS *et al.* (2013) Temperature and vegetation seasonality diminishment over northern lands. *Nature Clim. Change*, **3**, 581-586.
- Yang Z, Hanna E, Callaghan TV (2011) Modelling surface-air-temperature variation over complex terrain around Abisko, Swedish Lapland: uncertainty of measurements and models at different scales. *Geografiska Annaler: Series A, Physical Geography*, 93, 89-112.
- Yi Y, Kimball JS, Reichle RH (2014) Spring hydrology determines summer net carbon uptake in northern ecosystems. *Environmental Research Letters*, **9**, 064003.
- Yu ZC (2012) Northern peatland carbon stocks and dynamics: a review. *Biogeosciences*, 9, 4071-4085.
- Yurova A, Sirin A, Buffam I, Bishop K, Laudon H (2008) Modeling the dissolved organic carbon output from a boreal mire using the convection-dispersion equation: Importance of representing sorption. *Water Resources Research*, 44, W07411.
- Yurova A, Wolf A, Sagerfors J, Nilsson M (2007) Variations in net ecosystem exchange of carbon dioxide in a boreal mire: Modeling mechanisms linked to water table position. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, **112**, G02025.
- Zhang W, Miller PA, Smith B, Wania R, Koenigk T, Döscher R (2013) Tundra shrubification and tree-line advance amplify arctic climate warming: results from an individual-based dynamic vegetation model. *Environmental Research Letters*, 8, 034023.
- Zhou Q, Pilesjö P, Chen Y (2011) Estimating surface flow paths on a digital elevation model using a triangular facet network. *Water Resour. Res.*, **47**, W07522.
- Zimov SA, Schuur EaG, Chapin FS (2006) Permafrost and the Global Carbon Budget. *Science*, **312**, 1612-1613.
- Zinko U, Seibert J, Dynesius M, Nilsson C (2005) Plant species numbers predicted by a topography-based groundwater flow index. *Ecosystems*, **8**, 430-441.

Avhandlingar från Institutionen för naturgeografi och ekosystemanalys (INES), Lunds universitet

Dissertations from Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science, University of Lund

Martin Sjöström, 2012: Satellite remote sensing of primary production in semi-arid Africa.

Zhenlin Yang, 2012: Small-scale climate variability and its ecosystem impacts in the sub-Arctic.

Ara Toomanian, 2012: Methods to improve and evaluate spatial data infrastructures.

Michal Heliasz, 2012: Spatial and temporal dynamics of subarctic birch forest carbon exchange.

Abdulghani Hasan, 2012: Spatially distributed hydrological modelling : wetness derived from digital elevation models to estimate peatland carbon.

Julia Bosiö, 2013: A green future with thawing permafrost mires? : a study of climate-vegetation interactions in European subarctic peatlands. (Lic.)

Anders Ahlström, 2013: Terrestrial ecosystem interactions with global climate and socioeconomics.

Kerstin Baumanns, 2013: Drivers of global land use change : are increasing demands for food and bioenergy offset by technological change and yield increase? (Lic.)

Yengoh Genesis Tambang, 2013: Explaining agricultural yield gaps in Cameroon.

Olofsson, Jörgen, 2013: The Earth : climate and anthropogenic interactions in a long time perspective.

Wårlind, David, 2013: The role of carbon-nitrogen interactions for terrestrial ecosystem dynamics under global change : a modelling perspective.

Sundqvist, Elin, 2014: Methane exchange in a boreal forest : the role of soils, vegetation and forest management.

Falk, Julie Maria, 2014: Plant-soil-herbivore interactions in a high Arctic wetland : feedbacks to the carbon cycle.

Hedefalk, Finn, 2014: Life histories across space and time : methods for including geographic factors on the micro-level in longitudinal demographic research. (Lic.)

Jamali, Sadegh, 2014: Analyzing vegetation trends with sensor data from earth observation satellites.

Olsson, Cecilia, 2014: Tree phenology modelling in the boreal and temperate climate zones : timing of spring and autumn events.

Jing Tang, 2014: Linking distributed hydrological processes with ecosystem vegetation dynamics and carbon cycling : modelling studies in a subarctic catchment of northern Sweden.